COMMONWEALTH PARLIAMENTARY ASSOCIATION

MENTAL HEALTH TOOLKIT FOR COMMONWEALTH PARLIAMENTS





About the CPA

The Commonwealth Parliamentary Association (CPA) connects, develops, promotes and supports parliamentarians and their staff to identify benchmarks of good governance and the implementation of the enduring values of the Commonwealth. The CPA collaborates with parliaments and other organisations, including the intergovernmental community, to achieve its statement of purpose. It brings parliamentarians and parliamentary staff together to exchange ideas among themselves and with experts in various fields, to identify benchmarks of good practices and new policy options they can adopt or adapt in the governance of their societies.

About the author

This document was produced by public health, mental health and ethics consultant, Dr Leandri Hattingh.

Acknowledgements

The CPA Headquarters Secretariat extends its thanks to Dr Leandri Hattingh for her work in drafting the content for this Toolkit.

CONTENTS

| FOREWORDS | 1 |
|--|----|
| INTRODUCTION | 4 |
| IMPORTANCE AND RATIONALE FOR PARLIAMENTS TO PROMOTE MENTAL HEALTH: MPS AND SUPPORT STAFF FACE UNIQUE CHALLENGES | 6 |
| A LEGAL AND MORAL DUTY | 11 |
| GUIDANCE | 13 |
| A. RECOGNISING NEEDS, AND PRIORITISATION | 13 |
| B. SYSTEMIC INITIATIVES WITH MENTAL HEALTH BENEFITS | 20 |
| C. ORGANISATIONAL SUPPORT | 26 |
| D. SELF-HELP | 36 |
| E. CONSTITUENT SUPPORT | 41 |
| F. MONITORING AND EVALUATION | 42 |
| CONCLUSION | 44 |
| FURTHER READING & RESOURCES | 45 |
| REFERENCES | 46 |

© Commonwealth Parliamentary Association 2022

All rights reserved. This publication may be reproduced, stored, or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photography, recording or otherwise provided it is used only for educational purposes and is not for resale, and provided full acknowledgement is given to the Commonwealth Parliamentary Association as the original publisher. Rights are not extended for the reproduction of any photography or design not owned by the Commonwealth Parliamentary Association as contained in this publication.

Views and opinions expressed in this publication are the responsibility of the Commonwealth Parliamentary Association Headquarters Secretariat and should not be attributed to any Parliament or Member of the Association.

Have you used this publication?

If you have, let us know as we are always keen to hear how our products are being used. Our details are on the back.



Forewords

In all workplaces today, it is imperative to prioritise mental health and well-being. We all need skills to navigate stresses and challenges in the workplace, and to access work-specific resources to help ensure people feel supported and cared for. The World Health Organization defines mental health as "a state of well-being in which an individual realises his or her abilities, can cope with the normal stresses of life, work productively and make a contribution to his or her community."

Given the worldwide decline in overall mental health, a toolkit that emphasises a one-size fits-all-approach is insufficient, and Parliaments need to consider the unique risk and protective factors in their specific jurisdictions.

It is therefore timely that the CPA has developed a mental health toolkit to support member Branches to develop better mental health policies and practices in our parliamentary workplaces. Some of the evidence that drove the development of this CPA mental health toolkit was the recognition that there are mental health challenges within parliaments. The Parliament of Canada enables the Canadian Mindfulness Advisory Group to support the selection and standardisation of mindfulness training for Canadian Members of Parliament and parliamentary staff. This assists Parliamentarians and parliamentary staff in developing the ability to regulate emotions and decrease stress and anxiety. The Parliament of Australia established a Select Committee dedicated



Louisa Wall, Member of the New Zealand Parliament Pāremata Aotearoa

to mental health and suicide prevention. In the United Kingdom, a 24/7 counselling helpline became accessible in 2018 for Members and staff of the House of Commons, as well as the House of Lord's administrators. Between 1 May, 2020, and 30 April, 2021, at least, 1,073 calls were made to the helpline. In Aotearoa, New Zealand, we developed the cross-party mental health and addictions wellbeing group in 2019 recognising in part that we as Parliamentarians also need specific support to address our particular workplace stresses.

Parliament is a particularly demanding environment, and a 2016 study found that UK House of Commons Parliamentarians have higher rates of mental health problems than the wider UK population. With an estimated 1 billion people worldwide currently living with a mental disorder, considered and specific workplace action is needed. Mental unwellness is becoming a more recognised and acknowledged health issue than ever before, and many Parliaments are recognising the need to take steps to strengthen and promote mental health.

This CPA Mental Health Toolkit has been designed to give advice, guidance and to provide education on how institutions can improve their response to mental health matters. And in the current climate, it is also important to consider the impact of COVID-19 on Parliaments' responses to mental health. As an Parliamentarian, I appreciate the inclusion of practical approaches for Parliaments to consider based on relevant parliamentary case studies and techniques parliaments can employ for the promotion of mental health and well-being.

Unsupported workplace mental health challenges have a significant adverse impact on all of us and impacts on relationships both at work and at home, thus affecting our quality of life. Therefore, we should continue to focus on mental health promotion, prevention and treatment programmes and develop work-based approaches to reduce the prevalence of these impacts.

Thank you to the author of this CPA Mental Health Toolkit for providing a resource to specifically address parliamentary workplace stresses and challenges. We need to better understand the risk factors and the protective factors to keep ourselves and those we work with mentally fit and well to undertake our duties as parliamentary representatives.



This publication has been produced under the auspices of the CPA's Commonwealth Parliamentarians with Disabilities (CPwD) network. In recognising the need to increase the representation of persons with disabilities in political institutions, the CPwD network was established in 2018 to facilitate activities and programmes to champion and increase the representation of persons with disabilities in Commonwealth parliaments and to work towards the mainstreaming of disability considerations in all CPA activities and programmes.

The CPwD network adopts the following definition from the United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities:

"Persons with disabilities include those who have long-term physical, mental, intellectual or sensory impairments which in interaction with various barriers may hinder their full and effective participation in society on an equal basis with others."

In accordance with this definition, the CPA Secretariat recognises long-term mental health issues as disabilities and, with this in mind, has produced this Toolkit for Commonwealth Parliaments.

FOREWORDS

There is growing local and international awareness of the importance of mental health for all citizens, particularly in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. This toolkit is a resource to guide, advise and educate the Commonwealth Parliaments on how to protect and promote the mental health and well-being of Parliamentarians and support staff.

Drawing on international best practice, the toolkit begins by describing optimal methods for confidentially identifying mental health needs among Parliamentarians and support staff through screening, monitoring of service utilization and surveys. It goes on to set out systemic initiatives that can yield mental health benefits through creating a mentally healthy work environment, such as addressing workplace harassment and bullying, robust induction and training, creating a culture of constructive communication and support when leaving the office. The toolkit then describes a range of organisational support systems such as employee assistance programs, occupational health services, peer support, mental health first aid and awareness campaigns. Next, selfhelp resources are provided, including online cognitive behavioural therapy, and mindfulness exercises, including through digital delivery in an app. Self-help is an essential ingredient of the toolkit, in line with World Health Organization recommendations for an optimal mental health service mix. The final sections of the



Dr Crick Lund, Professor of Global Mental Health and Development at King's College London

toolkit set out requirements for constituent support, and monitoring and evaluation systems. This comprehensive and balanced approach is essential to address the systemic drivers of mental health problems in organisations and create opportunities for tailored responses (including self-help) for those with mental health needs.

The Commonwealth Parliamentary Association mental health toolkit is an excellent example of best practice and is in keeping with the statement by many global mental health advocates that *"there is no health without mental health."* The toolkit is particularly timely in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic which has precipitated a significant increase in the prevalence of depression and anxiety disorders in countries around the world. In particular, the pandemic has amplified the effect of known risk factors for mental health conditions through social isolation, loss, uncertainty and physical illness. The toolkit speaks to the important role of key protective factors in mitigating the mental health consequences of the pandemic, such as social support, education and empowerment.

The toolkit is important for its two distinct primary audiences: the Legislature – by providing the systemic mechanisms to enable the optimal functioning of Parliament; and the legislators, by addressing the drivers of their mental health and optimising systems of care and support to those in need.

The Commonwealth Parliamentary Association is to be congratulated on its pro-active and systematic approach to mental health. The many resources that are made available through this toolkit will not only protect and promote the mental health of Parliamentarians and support staff in Commonwealth Parliaments but serve as an example of best practice for legislatures and their Members around the world.



Introduction

Mental health resides at the core of our wellbeing and significantly influences our ability to function in our families, communities, and occupations. It also affects our capacity for general self-care and achieving and maintaining good physical health^{1–3}. There can be "no health without mental health"^{4–7}. The World Health Organisation (WHO)⁸ defines mental health as "*a state of well-being in which the individual realises his or her own abilities, can cope with the normal stresses of life, can work productively and fruitfully, and is able to make a contribution to his or her community.*"

The COVID-19 pandemic has introduced unprecedented stresses to the mental health of people across the globe and at all levels of society^{9–15}. Parliamentarians, who have often been at the forefront of the response to a pandemic with pervasive consequences, have undoubtedly also been confronted by these challenges to mental health, both in their professional and personal lives. One of the comments received on the CPA's survey during the development of this toolkit brings into focus the pandemic's impact:

"The pandemic's major fall out has [caused] ...mental agony ...at [the] individual, family and societal level. Aside from personal affliction and lingering after effects of the disease, bereavement at [the] personal and family level has taken a heavy mental toll and caused immense anxiety. India has been no exception to this phenomenon experienced world wide."¹⁶ The COVID-19 pandemic presented sudden, unusual burdens of bereavement following the loss of loved ones, jobs, and personal freedoms for millions of people the world over. Uncertainty about personal safety, that of loved ones, job and financial security, and appropriateness of government and public health interventions, further contributed to mental health strain. Public health interventions also restricted usual personal freedoms and coping mechanisms that are known to preserve good mental health, such as leisure activities^{17,18}, socialising¹⁹, and physical exercise^{13,20}. A recent study found that the disruption in physical activity was a leading risk factor for the development depression during the pandemic¹⁰. of

The pandemic and its ramifications have been found to increase occurrences of sleeping problems^{10,21}, depression^{13,14,22}, anxiety^{11,13,14,22}, substance misuse¹⁵ and suicidality^{15,23}, and further evidence of the rising mental health fall-out from the pandemic is rapidly building.

The COVID-19 pandemic has both brought into focus and accelerated the significant mental health burden at all levels of society, with low and middle income countries experiencing the extremes of mental health burden and lack of adequate mental health support. However, a growing burden coupled with a significant gap in mental health care and support to address this burden are themes of mental health experiences across the socio-economic spectrum²⁴⁻²⁶.

Parliamentarians may be confronted with mental health problems through various avenues. These include their constituents, colleagues, management, staff, their personal social circles, and themselves. Research suggests that even during usual circumstances, Parliamentarians tend to suffer a higher mental ill health burden compared to the general population, and those in comparable sociodemographic groups²⁷.

In a 2016 study of mental health in Members of Parliament in the United Kingdom (UK) House of Commons, only 24% had no indication of mental ill health, while 42% of respondents had less than optimal mental health, and nearly 34% were found probable to have mental ill health²⁷. In a 2008 report²⁸ on mental health in the UK Parliament, 94% of survey respondents had friends or family who had experienced a mental health problem. This number was significantly higher than that of the general population at the time (63%)²⁸. Aspects specific to Parliamentarian life, such as time and workload pressures, regular travel and time away from home, and challenges in maintaining a healthy work-life balance, may all contribute to this²⁹. Additional challenges arising from living in the public eye, such as the

risk of harassment and stalking^{30,31} and intrusive media scrutiny³²⁻³⁴, may further compromise the mental health of Parliamentarians. Along with other factors such as stigma, the lack of privacy may also contribute to the underutilisation of existing mental health support services for Parliamentarians²⁷.

The mental health of any person has farreaching consequences in all spheres of their life, including workplace performance. The same is true for Parliamentarians. Decision-making capacity and the ability to concentrate, perform complicated tasks, successfully interact interpersonally, and to apply appropriate risk aversion, are all linked to one's mental health^{30,35–37}. Given the profound impact of Parliamentarian decisions and performance on the wellbeing and welfare of their constituents, it follows that the mental health of Parliamentarians may ultimately influence the health of our democracies³⁰.

Despite the unique mental health stressors faced by Parliamentarians, and the obvious importance of their mental wellbeing in the fulfilment of their duties, relatively little research has been published on this subject²⁷³⁰. While there are some examples of mental health awareness and support in Parliaments within the Commonwealth, there appears to be room for improvement. This toolkit will showcase some of the existing initiatives, and provide guidance on implementing support strategies to promote the mental health of Parliamentarians and support staff at various levels of the organisation.



Importance and Rationale for Parliaments to Promote Mental Health: Parliamentarians and Support Staff face unique challenges

Given the far-reaching implications of an Parliamentarian's mental health, the case for effective mental health support strategies in Parliaments is strong. Mental health promotion is important in any place of work, and Parliament is no exception. The European Commission's 2017 Guidance on Implementing a Comprehensive Approach for the promotion of mental health in the workplace³⁸ lists, among others, the following reasons for managing mental health in the workplace:

- The burden of mental illness is rising;
- There may be a legal obligation to protect and promote the mental health of workers;
- Mental health problems and illness are increasingly causing absences from work;
- These absences tend to last longer than those from other types of illness;
- The workplace is a conducive setting for the intervention and promotion of good mental health;
- "Good quality work promotes good mental health and wellbeing";
- Mental health promotion may "help employers to meet the principles of the social contract";
- "Interventions targeted at the individual to improve mental health and wellbeing are cost effective"; and;
- "Managing return to work is increasingly the responsibility of/beneficial to employers in many countries"

The development of mental ill health is influenced by a number of factors including environmental or workplace stressors, individual predisposition, resilience, coping skills and support, and stressors outside of the workplace, such as personal relationship conflict and other illness. According to the WHO Regional Office for Europe³⁹, workplace factors that may contribute to the development of mental ill health include those listed in Figure 1 below. Several of these factors may be prevalent in the parliamentarian work environment:

Figure 1: Sources and causes of stress and stress-related illness at work³⁹

Sources and causes of stress and stress-related illness at work³⁹

- high demands and low control;
- lack of control and poor decision-making latitude;
- low social support;
- imbalance between effort and reward;
- monotony;
- poor communication and information;
- unclear or ambiguous instructions and role, unclear organisational and personal goals;
- lack of participation;
- emotionally distressing human services work such as health care or teaching;
- job insecurity;
- time pressure;
- bullying, harassment and violence; and;
- organisational change.

X BAR

Whilst acknowledging the paucity of research on Parliamentarian mental health, researchers Flinders et al³⁰ proposed a framework for the understanding of the various stressors specifically experienced by parliamentarians. The framework divides these stressors into three levels, namely macro (cultural), meso (institutional), and micro (individual):

| Table 1: Key stressors of | on politicians, witl | h kind permissio | on from Oxford | d University Pres | 5S <u>30</u> |
|---------------------------|----------------------|------------------|----------------|-------------------|--------------|
| | | 2 A | | | |

| | Stressor | Meaning |
|----------------------------------|-------------------------------|---|
| 1. Macro-level (cultural) | 1.1 Expectations | High expectations but limited resources and capacity to deliver |
| | 1.2 Distrust | Intense scrutiny of politicians with focus on sensationalism and negativity, as well as forms of public accountability, blame and threat. |
| | 1.3 Political labour | Political labour reflects dissonance between personal and politically required views, carrying a potential personal and professional toll. |
| 2. Meso-level (institutional) | 2.1 Organisational Culture | Majoritarian politics is competitive; added challenges include lack of clarity around organisational procedures and induction. |
| | 2.2 Leadership | The impact of leadership style and of responsibility for appropriately handling crises and daily demands. |
| | 2.3 Temporal | Electoral cycles provide limited time to enact change; the impact of job loss and an uncertain future after politics. |
| | 3.1 Lifestyle | All-encompassing, featuring long working hours. The psychological strain of political life is often felt in family life and relationships. |
| 3. Micro-level (individual) | 3.2 Control | Limited influence over many job-related factors, lack of control over events and also conflicting professional loyalties. |
| | 3.3 Skills | Availability of appropriate training and support to strengthen competence, although reluctance to prescribe a 'right way' to be a politician. |

On the "macro", "cultural" level, the authors describe a tension between pre-election promises and post-election fulfilment, and the "can-do" attitude that is likely to attract votes but increase the gap between these promises and the realistic capacity for their fulfilment. Unmet expectations may result in feelings of anxiety, inadequacy, distrust and powerlessness for those tasked with their fulfilment. The "low-trust high-blame environment" that typically characterises modern democratic Parliaments, may have significantly detrimental effects on the psychological wellbeing of Parliamentarians and support staff. Politicians may feel constantly on their guard and isolated, with few support structures available to them³⁰.

With increasing attempts at making Parliamentarian activities more transparent and accessible to constituents in a bid to promote accountability³⁰, Parliamentarians are exposed to constant scrutiny and increased accessibility from constituents, and may spend a significant proportion of their time engaging directly with the constituency, while juggling the other demands of their Parliamentarian duties⁴⁰. It seems that the increased transparency, however, has been exposing Parliamentarians to intensified "popular cynicism, a disinterested and hyper-critical commercial media, and the immediacy of snap online reprimands"³⁰.

With increased ease of accessibility through online and other channels, stalking and harassment of politicians have become common. A survey conducted amongst Parliamentarians in four different countries³¹ found high rates of harassment. In the UK survey respondents, 81% had experienced intrusive or aggressive behaviour. This figure was 87%, 93% and 85% in New Zealand, Queensland and Norway, respectively³¹ (see Figure 2). In the UK sample, serious violations were common: 18% of respondents had been subjected to attack or attempted attack, 22% had experienced intentional damage to their property, and 42% had experienced threats of harm³¹.

The murders of UK Parliamentarians Jo Cox in 2016⁴¹ and Sir David Amess in 2021⁴², and the alleged assassination attempt in 2021 on Mohamed Nasheed, the former Maldives President and current Speaker of Parliament⁴³, further highlight the risk of physical harm to politicians and support staff through association with their Parliamentarian duties.

The experience or threat of harassment, stalking or violence may lead to profound psychological effects, including post-traumatic stress disorder, depression, fear, anxiety⁴⁴, and avoidant behaviour which may include altered social engagements and intensified security precautions^{30,45}. In a further analysis⁴⁵ of the UK survey³¹, support for Parliamentarians who had fallen victim to stalking or harassment was found wanting. Respondents reported dismissive attitudes from police, and 85% indicated a need for advance advice on dealing with intrusive behaviours during induction or security briefings⁴⁵.



Figure 2: Prevalence and impact of harassment and stalking of Parliamentarians^{30,31,44,45} (PTSD: Post-traumatic stress disorder)

X

A third, macro-level stressor for politicians as described by Flinders et al³⁰, relates to the potential conflict between personal, party, constituency and greater public morals and demands which result in "political labour" or "emotional labour", which in turn may be associated with burnout³⁰. At a "meso-level", Flinders et al³⁰ note three key aspects in the promotion of psychological wellbeing in an organisational environment:

- Adequate induction and/or support frameworks³⁰;
- An open professional culture in which the existence of weaknesses or insecurities can be openly discussed and constructively addressed³⁰; and
- A workplace environment in which people are not subject to threats, coercion, intimidation, aggressive behaviour, sexism or bullying³⁰.

Existing literature suggests that some Parliaments may be failing on all three accounts. The lack of adequate induction for Parliamentarians and staff entering Parliament is described in several sources ^{29, 46, 47}. The competitive nature of the Parliamentarian environment⁴⁸ may lend itself to the exploitation of insecurities and weaknesses as opposed to constructive remedies. Lastly, instances of bullying, harassment and sexual harassment are well described in some Parliaments⁴⁸⁻⁵³. Given the pervasiveness of workplace bullying and harassment in general^{54,55}, and especially where imbalances of power are stark^{56,57}, such as is typical in the parliamentary environment⁴⁸, it is reasonable to suspect its regular occurrence in other parliaments too.



Figure 3: Key aspects of mental wellbeing promotion in an organisation³⁰

Job insecurity and uncertainty and the aftermath of losing a seat constitute the "temporal stressor" described by Flinders et al³⁰. A report on a survey of members of the Association of Former Members of Parliament in the UK⁵⁸ noted surprise and humiliation when losing a seat in office, especially doing so in front of the media and supporters of the opposition. Some respondents reported a profound sense of loss and prolonged grieving, and difficulty in entering the job-market after leaving Parliament. The aftermath was also accompanied by health problems, including depression, sleeping problems and exhaustion, and emotional distress for family members⁵⁸.

Turning the attention from the broader challenges discussed above to the individual, Flinders et al³⁰ also describe psychological stressors for Parliamentarians and support staff at the "micropolitical" level. These include relatively long working hours compared to other professions: in a 1992 survey of UK Parliamentarians, 40% of Parliamentarians worked between 55-70 hours per week, and 41% worked more than 70 hours per week²⁹. Job stress, however, is not limited to formal working hours. Several respondents reported that they had found it difficult to "switch off" at home, and almost 75% indicated that interpersonal arguments at home had been made worse by work stress²⁹. Longer travelling times to and for work were associated with poorer mental and physical wellbeing²⁹.

Another stressor at the micro-political level is the lack of control³⁰ inherent in the solving of complex problems such as those regularly confronting Parliamentarians. As per Flinders et al³⁰,

"the specific requirement of politicians to implement reform, deliver public policies or prevent terrorist attacks highlights how politicians exist in a social milieu fraught with challenges to exercising control."

A perception of low control has been shown to have detrimental effects on mental health⁵⁹⁻⁶¹, and politicians are no exception³⁰.

Finally, a lack of skills necessary to successfully navigate the demands of a career in politics may create an additional emotional burden for Parliamentarians and support staff. Flinders et al³⁰ point out the limited formal training generally available to Parliamentarians. Skills in critical thinking, resilience, negotiation, networking, advocacy, "using organisational procedures", and the ability to influence and persuade, are all necessary for effective political work³⁰, and not necessarily mastered by all Parliamentarians, especially those new to Parliament.

In addition to political skills, other skills may also be lacking and influence the ability of Parliamentarians and support staff to meet the demands of their jobs, resulting in emotional distress. A recent report by the South African Institute of Government Auditors (SAIGA) noted that basic computer skills were lacking in about 62% of councillors, rendering them incapable of passing important municipal budgets⁶². Where important skills are lacking, tension may arise between public servants and their colleagues, their constituents, and they themselves may experience feelings of inadequacy and distress.

Figure 4: Important Political Skills to Consider in Training and Induction Programmes for Parliamentarians³⁰



A Legal and Moral Duty

Whilst the previous section advances a rational and moral duty to promote and protect the mental health of Parliamentarians and parliamentary support staff, there are legal obligations to be considered as well. Legislation regarding occupational health and safety (OHS) across Commonwealth countries typically impose a duty of reasonable care and protection of worker health and safety. It is important that mental health be included in the broader definitions and considerations of 'health and safety' in the occupational context. There appear to be loopholes in the legal OHS obligations of some Parliaments, where staff may be excluded from certain protections under broader employee health and safety legislation, and Parliamentarians are technically not employed but regarded as individual, elected office holders⁴⁸, and may consequently not enjoy protection under OHS legislation. A further complicating factor is the division of support staff between parliamentary employees and those employed by Parliamentarians, which may frustrate the implementation of universal policies or support structures. Where the legislation does not strictly apply, an internal policy may be a useful device to fill the gaps to ensure adequate protection and support for the mental and other health and safety of Parliamentarians and support staff. Where practical, such a policy or at least its principles should be universally applicable to all workers.

PARLIAMENTARY CASE STUDIES:

LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY FOR THE AUSTRALIAN CAPITAL TERRITORY

Informed by the Work Health and Safety Act 2011 (WHS Act), the Legislative Assembly for the Australian Capital Territory aims to instil a workplace culture that "promotes good health and wellbeing", and to "facilitate work as part of recovery when illness or injury occurs."

The 'Workplace Injury Prevention Policy Statement', endorsed by the new leadership at the beginning of each Assembly, recognises that "all Members, and the Clerk, are a 'Person Conducting a Business or Undertaking' under the WHS Act". "The Policy Statement also recognises the broad legislative requirements and responsibilities that apply to the Assembly workplace under the WHS Act to provide and maintain a safe workplace and safe systems of work for all workers".

The Assembly has a Health and Safety Committee (HSC) which serves as the primary communication channel for Assembly workers and "is responsible for considering relevant work health and safety matters, assessing relevant health and safety risks, and monitoring the implementation of appropriate treatments to bring risks within an acceptable level of tolerance". The HSC is "chaired by the Executive Manager, Business Support, Office of the Legislative Assembly and includes representatives of the Office, the ALP, the Canberra Liberals, the ACT Greens, and the relevant union."

The Assembly's Health, Safety and Wellbeing Plan, endorsed by the HSC, provides guidance on the Assembly's approach to workplace health, safety and wellbeing. Strategies in this plan include "providing preventative programs to educate staff in reducing the impact of injuries - physical, ergonomic, and psychosocial injury; and promoting participation and support initiatives that enhance physical, mental, health and wellbeing".

"The HSC also reviews the Assembly's Health and Safety Risk Register on an annual basis. The Risk Register applies a risk management framework to develop and implement practical solutions to reduce risk levels across the Assembly. Psychosocial risks, including those associated with confronting material that is dealt with in the Assembly/committees, are identified, and appropriate measures are discussed, implemented and monitored".

UK HOUSE OF COMMONS

Excerpt from a report on Bullying and Harassment of House of Commons Staff⁴⁸:

"The House staff are not civil servants but are employed by the House of Commons. They are formally appointed by the Commission, which is responsible for their pay and conditions but delegates to the Board the task of ensuring that staff terms and conditions are consistent with the Commission's statutory duties. The House of Commons Administration Act 1978 provides that those terms and conditions must be kept broadly in line with the Home Civil Service. The Staff Handbook states at Chapter 2, paragraph 1.2 that, "Parliamentary staff are excluded from some aspects of employment legislation. However, wherever reasonably practicable, the House seeks to reflect the provisions of employment law even in cases where the legislation does not strictly apply." The employment provisions of the Equality Act 2010 apply expressly to staff employed in the House of Commons".

Guidance

Interventions aimed at improving and maintaining mental health can be implemented at primary, secondary and/or tertiary stages of ill health⁶⁴. Primary interventions aim to mitigate or avoid exposure to risk factors and prevent the development of first occurrences of ill health. Secondary interventions aim to reverse or slow the progression of ill health or build personal resources and resilience, and minimise the severity of illness through early detection and effective treatment⁶⁴. Tertiary interventions focus on rehabilitation, recovery, relapse prevention, maintenance and reintegration into usual social and occupational functions⁶⁴.

Interventions can also be implemented at various levels, ranging from the organisation to peers within the organisation, and individual support and self-care. A successful mental health support strategy for Parliamentarians and support staff should strive to encompass all of these levels, and take into account the need for intervention and support at primary, secondary and tertiary stages of mental ill health.



A. Recognising needs and prioritisation

Prioritisation and commitment are required from the relevant decision-makers within an organisation to ensure the successful implementation and maintenance of an effective mental health strategy. In 2021, the CPA surveyed Commonwealth Parliaments regarding their current and future needs and interventions for mental health support for Parliamentarians and support staff. Among the survey respondents, nearly 50% of Parliaments characterised the need for support as "high". Smaller Parliaments tended to indicate less need.



In the absence of a proactive mental health support strategy, the mental health needs of Parliamentarians and support staff may go unnoticed. A recent report by McKinsey and Company⁶⁵ indicated a significant disconnect between employer and employee perceptions regarding mental health needs. They found that 65% of employers considered employee mental health support as 'well' or 'very well', while only 51% of employees agreed. In terms of improving access to treatment for mental illness, only 31% of employers considered it a priority, while 67% of employees reported challenges in accessing care. Only 23% of employers indicated that they had implemented anti-stigma and/or awareness campaigns, while nearly 80% of employees indicated that such campaigns would be valuable⁶⁵.



Some of the challenges involved in accurately assessing the need for mental health support include the absence of formal reporting procedures, lack of active case finding, and reluctance of persons who require support to ask for help or disclose their challenges. Stigma against mental health problems remains a significant barrier to disclosure and help-seeking^{66.67}. Even when good support structures are in place, sufferers of mental ill health may avoid using them for fear of unfair discrimination, lack of knowledge about treatment options and potential outcomes, or stigma⁶⁸⁻⁷¹.

The following strategies may assist in assessing the need for mental health support among Parliamentarians and support staff in your Parliament:

| 1. Screening | Screening for mental ill health indicators can be included as part of general health screening, e.g., wellness days. Ask your 'wellness service' provider* to include basic screening questions on mental health, workplaces stress, and/or burnout. Self-screening with anonymous aggregate reporting may be used to measure the burden of mental ill health amongst Parliamentarians and support staff. This can be organised through an external partner like an Employee Assistance Programme provider (see Employee Assistance Programmes (EAPs) on p.27 & the section on Screening Tools on p.19 for more information). Consider including common mental health disorders such as depression and anxiety, sleep disturbances, related absenteeism and substance misuse in your screening questions. Substance misuse may be a particularly significant problem in some Parliaments²⁰, and supporting its management should be part of your mental health strategy. |
|---|---|
| 2. Tracking/ reporting the use of services | Review regular reports from your in-house mental and/or occupational health service providers or external partners to assess the extent of mental health support accessed. This may serve as a proxy measure for the need in your Parliament. |
| | |
| 3. Survey | Survey results can offer useful baseline indicators and can be used in continuous monitoring. Consider the rate of staff turnover to decide on the frequency of surveying. Aim to assess key aspects regarding culture (organisational prioritisation of mental health), comfort (in disclosing needs for mental health support), access (knowledge about and accessibility of support), contributors (workplace stressors on mental health) and current need (symptoms and signs of mental ill health) ⁷² . See Figure 5 on the following page for examples of questions to include in your survey. |

*Wellness services in the workplace are typically provided by occupational health service providers or employee assistance programme (EAP) providers. Wellness services focus on screening and basic advice for the prevention, detection and management of common health problems. See the section on Employee Assistance Programmes (EAPs) on page 27 of this Toolkit for more information.

. .

Examples of workplace mental health survey questions:

How would you describe the priority given to mental health support for Parliamentarians and support staff in [your Parliament]?

- Low
- Moderate
- High

Rate (as low, moderate, or high), your level of comfort in speaking about mental health challenges with your...

- your peers
- your manager
- your staff
- your Human Resources representative

What mental health services can you currently access?

[you may specify details here of your specific service providers/partners]

Rate (as low, moderate, or high), your knowledge about how to access support from [specify your mental health support service provider/partner/access point] and what type of support they offer?

Which current workplace factors in [your Parliament] do you think may contribute to unhealthy stress/burnout/mental ill health for you? Consider factors like autonomy, workload, working/traveling hours, management styles, job security, and job control.

Rate the negative effect that your current mental health has on your workplace productivity (none, low, moderate, or high).

Rate how well your mental health support needs are currently being met (not at all/ somewhat/adequately/more than enough).

PARLIAMENTARY CASE STUDY: PARLIAMENT OF MALAYSIA⁷³

Parliamentary staff have access to an online mental health screening and support tool. The service is provided by a partner organisation (https://epsikologi.jpm.gov.my/) and includes advice on accessing additional mental health services and support.

Public Service Counselling Associates (AKRAB) also provide a peer-type support service based on the principles of "Honesty (Amanah), Commitment (Komitment), Rational (Rasional), Morals (Akhlak) and Smart (Bestari)". AKRAB is based on the concept of a "friend helping [a] friend' in building team spirit, closeness", and "each other's potential... It is also a support group that emphasises humanistic relationships".

Private

Confidentiality is key

Survey and screening participants should feel safe in the knowledge that their responses will not prejudice them in any way. Be sure to explain what the purpose of the survey or screening is, how the information will be used, and who will have access to it. Gather responses anonymously wherever possible.

Put the Data to Use, Involve Stakeholders, Integrate into Daily Practice, and Balance Your Approach

Some authors²² suggest that surveys should only be used once there is a real commitment to follow-up and action based on the results. If not, merely surveying without action may breed mistrust in the Parliament's true intention with the survey.

Once the needs are better understood, interventions can be tailored accordingly. With objective information regarding the needs within your Parliament, the prioritisation of support services may be more easily recognised and supported by organisational decision-makers. The caveat of under-reporting should however always be kept in mind. Expect that, even with active case-finding initiatives such as described above, some cases will still be missed.

In addition to needs assessment, the European Network for Workplace Health Promotion^{74,75} suggests three other basic principles of good practice which can be adapted for mental health support in Parliaments, as follows:

- Integration of mental health into relevant policies and daily practice
- Involvement of Parliamentarians and support staff in the planning, implementation and evaluation of mental health strategies
- A balanced approach that addresses both organisational issues and individual challenges⁷⁵

GUIDANCE

Figure 6: Best Practice Principles for Promoting Mental Health in Parliament



Adhering to these principles will help ensure that mental health becomes an integral part of parliamentary organisational wellbeing and performance, with continuous commitment throughout the organisation towards its realisation.

PARLIAMENTARY CASE STUDY: NORTHERN IRELAND ASSEMBLY⁷⁶

All parties are consulted regarding the preparation of the Member's Development Plan. The Plan currently includes topics on personal resilience, such as 'Understanding and managing the pressures that come with being a Member', 'Dealing with difficult conversations", and 'Managing personal security'. Future inclusion of mental health-related topics will be informed by Members' input.

PARLIAMENTARY CASE STUDY: SENATE OF CANADA^{ZZ}

By creating a team or committee focussed on mental health promotion within your Parliament, initiatives can be informed, coordinated, committed, managed and measured. The House of Commons of Canada has embarked on putting such a structure in place:

"The Senate has created a Mental Health Advisory Committee (SMHAC) which aims to develop and implement a supportive and safe culture for psychological health in the workplace by building awareness, reducing stigma and fostering a supportive work environment. The committee is working to increase Senate employees and Senators' understanding of mental health by promoting, providing and advancing activities, resources and programs that align with Senate values.

The SMHAC conducts its work guided by the following principles:

- Increase Senators' and all Senate employees' understanding of mental health by promoting, providing and advancing evidence-based activities and resources that align with Senate values.
- Focus on a holistic approach to mental health and wellbeing which addresses the social determinants of health.
- Support equity, diversity and inclusion, social justice and individual autonomy.

To accomplish this, the SMHAC will use the P6 Framework, as outlined in 'The Mood Disorders Society of Canada: Workplace Mental Health' (see p.25 of this toolkit for more information).

Reaching as many participants as possible

Several strategies can be considered in order to encourage people to access mental health screening, reporting and support services:

These can be implemented in-house or via an external service provider like an Employee Assistance Programme provider. Key initiatives to consider:

- 1. Antistigma campaigns
- Normalise good self-care: Affirm and encourage healthy behaviours and appropriate self-care like regular physical exercise, observing reasonable work hours, and asking for help when necessary.
- Use champions in the organisation: Recruit leaders and peers within the organisation to champion your mental health campaign.

2. Develop

Make mental health a priority, ensure sensitivity to mental health in all activities of Parliament, and work towards a culture of nondiscrimination against mental ill health.

an inclusive culture

- Be sensitive to offensive language and stereotypes. Be clear about the confidentiality of sensitive information.
- Be clear about the consequences of disclosure.

X

| 3. Increase ease of access | Active case finding, e.g. through surveying, self-screening, and/ or health screening at wellness days (see section A. Recognising Needs, and Prioritisation). Engage in clear and wide communication about available support, what it entails, how to access it, and who funds it. Train mental health champions or peer supporters in Mental Health First Aid (see p.32), and equip them with knowledge about available support is always available: consider 24/7-hour access for trauma support and emergency debriefing; ensure that other support services are easily accessible, with due consideration of location and working hours of Parliamentarians and parliamentary support staff. |
|----------------------------------|---|
| | |

Evaluating mental health needs in your parliament: Resources

1. Mind guide on assessing mental health in your workplace. (<u>https://www.mind.org.uk/</u> media-a/4664/resource_2_take_stock_of_mh_in_your_workplace_final.pdf)

Screening tools:

- Ahead for Business Mental Health Check-up. An online questionnaire that combines assessment tools for depression, stress and anxiety (DASS), alcohol consumption (AUDIT-C) and wellbeing (Flourishing scale). Accessible from: <u>https://aheadforbusiness.org.au/check-ups/mental-health-check-up</u>
- 2. Ahead for Business Stress Test. An online questionnaire focussed on workplace-related stressors. Accessible from: <u>https://aheadforbusiness.org.au/check-ups/business-stress-test</u>
- 3. NHS depression and anxiety self-assessment quiz. Accessible from: <u>https://www.nhs.uk/</u> <u>mental-health/self-help/guides-tools-and-activities/depression-anxiety-self-assessment-</u> <u>quiz/</u>
- PHQ-9 depression questionnaire. This tool is widely used and validated for screening and monitoring of depression symptoms. Accessible from: <u>https://www.healthnavigator.org.nz/</u> tools/p/patient-health-questionnaire-9-phq-9/
- GAD-7 anxiety questionnaire. A widely used and validated screening tool for symptoms of anxiety. Accessible from: <u>https://www.healthnavigator.org.nz/tools/g/general-anxiety-scale-gad-7/</u>
- 6. The Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT). A widely used and validated tool for screening for harmful alcohol use and/or abuse. <u>http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/67205/WHO_MSD_MSB_01.6a.pdf;jsessionid=7AC7DD81F48C1EF8DB51966563750DDF?sequence=1</u> and <u>https://auditscreen.org/check-your-drinking/</u>

B. Systemic initiatives with mental health benefits

Several of the workplace-based interventions for mental health discussed in the next chapter (employee assistance programmes, peer support, Mental Health First Aid, mental health awareness and education campaigns and occupational health services) focus on building personal resilience and identifying and managing individual mental ill health. As a key primary intervention, workplace stressors also need to be addressed^{49,64,75}, particularly in high-stress work environments such as Parliament. Given the unique challenges facing Parliamentarian mental health as outlined in the previous chapter, several systemic interventions should form an integral part of your Parliament's mental health strategy:



Addressing workplace harassment, bullying and abuse

Bullying behaviours in the workplace include harassment, undue exclusion, and unfair treatment such as assigning meaningless tasks or unrealistic deadlines, or micro-management⁷⁸. Sexual harassment is also increasingly recognised as pervasive in many workplaces^{79–81}, and Parliament is no exception^{48,50–53,80,82–84}. Several Commonwealth Parliaments have recently been reported to increase their attention on addressing bullying, harassment and sexual harassment amongst Parliamentarians and Parliamentarian staff^{48,50,51,82,84}. These abusive behaviours may lead to mental ill health, which can include sleep disturbances, personal relationship strain, loss of selfesteem, reduced social interaction⁴⁸, depression, anxiety, post-traumatic stress disorder, and burn-out⁷⁸. In severe cases, victims may turn to suicide^{85,86}. It may also have detrimental effects on worker productivity and employee relations⁴⁸. Furthermore, when news about harassment in Parliament becomes public, it may undermine the reputation of Parliament and draw into question its commitment to respecting human rights⁸⁷.

The power imbalance inherent in the hierarchical structure of Parliament may lend itself particularly towards bullying and harassing behaviours⁴⁸. Coupled with long-standing cultures of covering-up and lacklustre commitment to addressing these issues^{48,50,51}, Parliaments face a critical task of profound change in their attitudes and actions towards ridding themselves from these toxic behaviours.

X

Though evidence is limited on effective organisational interventions to reduce bullying²⁸, clear policies that are strictly enforced may cultivate a culture change towards non-tolerance and readily accessible support for victims of bullying and abuse, as well as a sense of safety for victims who report such behaviours. Compulsory training programmes for all Parliamentarians and staff and robust support structures, including confidential and independent complaints procedures and trauma debriefing for victims, should be considered as part of a comprehensive strategy to address these behaviours in Parliament^{48,50,84}.

Following highly publicised allegations of sexual misconduct in the Australian Parliament, a 2021 report on the parliamentary workplace and its response to incidents of assault, sexual assault and harassment, and bullying and other types of harassment made suggestions similar to the Cox report⁴⁸:

"The review found that the current procedures and processes are not designed or able to respond appropriately to serious incidents in the parliamentary workplace, particularly to sexual assault. The most significant gap is the absence of readily accessible, timely, independent, trauma-informed services and response mechanisms, now partially remedied with the introduction of a dedicated 24/7 support line... The review found two other critical areas requiring immediate action: a trusted, independent complaints mechanism able to deliver proportionate consequences for misconduct, and tailored, face to face education and support for Parliamentarians and their staff in preventing, identifying and responding to serious incidents in the workplace. Coupled with a clearly articulated leadership commitment and actions in relation to promoting a safe and respectful workplace, these findings form the basis for the recommendations in the review"⁸⁴.

Given the profound effects of bullying, harassment, and sexual harassment on the mental health of victims, and the suggestion that these behaviours are prevalent in Parliaments, a mental health strategy for Parliaments has to include or co-exist with a determined approach to address these behaviours.

GENDER SENSITISING PARLIAMENTS GUIDELINES

Drawing from a wide range of anti-harassment policies and procedures from Parliaments in the Commonwealth, these guidelines provide a detailed step-by-step approach that offers insights and case studies on what appropriate methods should be included when developing or updating their respective anti-harassment policies.

Accessible from: <u>https://www.cpahq.org/</u> news/2020_10-cwp-anti-harassment/



PARLIAMENTARY CASE STUDY: UK PARLIAMENT

Following a series of events that brought the issue into the public discourse, including news reports in 2017 of alleged harassment and bullying by Parliamentarians at Westminster, an independent inquiry was launched into Bullying and Harassment of the House of Commons Staff⁴⁸. The report on the inquiry by Dame Laura Cox exposed a culture of harassment, bullying and sexual harassment in the House of Commons, as well as several gaps in support structures for staff who had fallen victim to such behaviours. Chief among them were the absence of a human resources department and policy or complaints procedures for staff directly employed by Parliamentarians⁴⁸. A culture of fear of exposing these abusive behaviours was also identified. Dame Cox summarised the necessity of commitment to a comprehensive strategy to address bullying, harassment and sexual harassment as follows:



Dame Laura Mary Cox, DBE, former English High Court judge and author of the Cox report

"Bullying, harassment and sexual harassment are

insidious and pervasive. Misconduct of this kind, whether by Members of Parliament or House staff, needs vigilance and constant attention. Ensuring the safety and dignity of all those employed by the House, at every level and in every area, requires a pro-active and coherent approach. It requires a fully resourced, clearly visible, regularly monitored and updated programme of action, with detailed standards of behaviour and effective procedures aimed at preventing bullying and harassment in the first place and, if appropriate, nipping it in the bud when it occurs, and certainly before it deteriorates and becomes corrosive."

Recommendations in the report included revision of certain aspects of a new scheme for dealing with complaints and grievances, as well as the following⁴⁸:

- Prompt, fair and independent investigation of formal complaints, by specialists, and a range of sanctions available for upheld complaints.
- "...Easily accessible, reliable and confidential support mechanisms for both the complainant and the alleged perpetrator" throughout the investigation.
- "...regular, comprehensive and intensive training programmes for everyone in the workplace [including MPs]⁴⁸(p118), including focused leadership and management training...".

The following comment regarding training is also apt to mental health training programmes:

"Training will be essential if the new Scheme is to work, and there has to be a commitment to training at the most senior levels. High quality induction and continuation training, together with rolling programmes of senior leadership and line management development training, is time- consuming and resource intensive, but it delivers. During this inquiry I identified a "we're all much too busy" approach to allocating sufficient time to training, coupled with the inevitable "no more money in the budget" response, but "bite-size modules" or short, voluntary self-referral sessions are insufficient".

- "...total, genuine and constant commitment... at the very top of the organisation" to a
 pro-active approach to addressing bullying, harassment and sexual harassment.
- Training of those tasked with dealing with complaints about bullying or harassing behaviours to "recognise the signs, to approach the matter fairly and objectively" and to "know how to elicit information sensitively from the person reporting it, how to probe beneath the service when speaking to the alleged perpetrator, and how to look for clues elsewhere".

22 💢

Induction and training

Members newly-elected to Parliament face a barrage of adjustments to their working and personal lives, which can be overwhelming⁴⁷ and emotionally and physically distressing^{46,47}. According to a document detailing 'Ideas and advice to accelerate the transition for new Parliamentarians entering New Zealand's House of Representatives'⁸⁸, these adjustments include information overload with advice from a multitude of stakeholders, lack of knowledge about critical issues, an expectation to be knowledgeable immediately, and constant scrutiny from various sources, including colleagues, parties, and the public⁸⁸. A sudden increase in working hours and inability to clearly delineate work and private time may cause damage to family and social relationships^{29,46,47,88} and mental and physical health^{29,46}. Financial hardship may be an added challenge where Parliamentarians experience a reduction in income when elected to Parliament⁴⁷.

As detailed in the chapter on the 'Importance and Rationale for Parliaments to Promote Mental Health: Parliamentarians and Support Staff Face Unique Challenges' of this toolkit (p.6), the lack of knowledge among newly elected Parliamentarians may extend to critical political and technical skills which Parliamentarians may not have otherwise encountered prior to being elected to Parliament. The range of potential positions within Parliament (e.g. Ministerial positions, or that of Speaker or Chairperson of a Committee) may also generate a need for very specific skills not ordinarily acquired outside a parliamentary environment. Several sources highlight the unmet need for adequate

training and induction for new Parliamentarians^{30,46,47,89}.

PARLIAMENTARY CASE STUDY: THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY OF THE NORTHERN TERRITORY

An outsourced security services provider runs a training module for parliamentary staff on mental health conditions, how to support colleagues with respect, and how to respond to disorderly behaviour from persons with mental health problems³⁰.

In developing an induction and training programme, it may be useful to perform a needs assessment in your particular parliament to determine the focus areas. At a minimum, induction should also include education on key policies and procedures, including those relating to bullying, harassment and sexual abuse⁴⁸, as well as information on available support mechanisms for physical and mental health. Training on how to deal with stalking and harassment from the public is also recommended (see p.6) as part of induction and regular security meetings.

Support when leaving office

As described in the chapter on the 'Importance and Rationale for Parliaments to Promote Mental Health: Parliamentarians and Support Staff Face Unique Challenges' in this toolkit (p.6), leaving Parliament after being voted out can be a traumatic experience. Some Parliamentarians are left with damage to their sense of self-worth, bereavement, depression, problems with finding new

PARLIAMENTARY CASE STUDY: SENATE OF CANADA

An Employee and Family Assistance Programme is offered to Senate employees and their immediate family members "during their Senate appointment or employment and for a period of three months after the end of the appointment or termination of employment".

employment⁵⁸, and recovering from financial losses incurred during campaigning. While a report on Parliamentarians leaving the UK House of Commons⁵⁸ found that most Parliamentarians did not indicate a need for support during this process, some thought that Parliament could provide better support during the process of leaving. Practical issues such as data management, forwarding email addresses and vacating offices were also highlighted⁵⁸. It may be of use to allow retired Parliamentarians access to mental health support services for a wind-down period after leaving Parliament, to assist with bereavement and other related emotional distress.

Don't forget physical health

Given the interdependence of mental and physical health, attention to physical health should form part of a comprehensive mental health support strategy. As detailed in the chapter on 'Organisational Support' (p. 26 of this toolkit), mental health support services should be integrated with occupational and other health services.

A simple but significant intervention in support of mental health is the promotion of a healthy lifestyle, which includes adequate physical exercise, a healthy diet, good sleep, and the avoidance of harmful behaviours such as tobacco or illicit drug use or alcohol misuse⁹¹. While education and awareness campaigns may help advance a healthy lifestyle, practical interventions such as the availability of healthy meals and working hours that allow for taking physical exercise and getting adequate sleep may have significant benefits for the mental and physical health of Parliamentarians and parliamentary support staff. As noted by Weinberg and Cooper⁴⁶:

'It has been widely documented that the working habits and associated lifestyle of the House of Commons might encourage less healthy practices and therefore a combination of active health promotion strategies and some normalising of the working day to facilitate the use of available exercise facilities might be of benefit to Members".

Regular work-related social events may be commonplace for Parliamentarians, and the provision of healthy alternatives to processed foods and alcoholic beverages at such events could be beneficial to both the mental and physical health of attendees.

PARLIAMENTARY CASE STUDIES:

GAUTENG PROVINCIAL LEGISLATURE

As part of a comprehensive health and wellness strategy, the Gauteng Provincial Legislature has a "Sport, Recreation, Art and Culture policy that regulates the participation in different sporting codes and encourages healthy lifestyle to both Parliamentarians and staff"⁹².

PARLIAMENT OF VICTORIA⁹³

An online Wellness Hub is updated monthly and includes several 'Tiles'. Amongst them are a mental health tile with information on "mental health service providers and initiatives, important phone numbers and websites for support", an Employee Assistance Programme Tile, information on monthly, local health-related events and initiatives, and a Wellbeing Tile with guidance on managing one's own wellbeing and creating healthy and safe work environments. On the Wellbeing Tile there is information on "virtual exercise classes, gardening tips, healthy eating recipes and videos, [a] book club, etc".

GENDER SENSITISING PARLIAMENTS GUIDELINES

Drawing from a wide range of anti-harassment policies and procedures from Parliaments in the Commonwealth, these guidelines provide a detailed step-by-step approach that offers insights and case studies on what appropriate methods should be included when developing or updating their respective antiharassment policies.



Accessible from: <u>https://www.cpahq.org/news/2020_10-cwp-anti-harassment/</u>

Creating a "mentally healthy" work environment: Resources:

 Mood Disorders Society of Canada guidance on workplace mental health. The free-toaccess information "aims to provide both employees and employers with the information and guidance they need to promote and support positive Mental Health in the Workplace". Accessible from: <u>https://mdsc.ca/workplace/</u>

Also see <u>http://mdsc.ca/docs/Workplace_Mental_Health.pdf</u>, for the P6 Format for addressing workplace mental health.

- NICE Promoting mental wellbeing through productive and healthy working conditions: guidance for employers in small and medium businesses. Summary leaflet of NICE's guidance on promoting mental wellbeing at work. Accessible from: <u>https://www.nice.org.</u> <u>uk/guidance/ph22/resources/advice-for-small-and-mediumsized-businesses-pdf-67277917</u>
- The UK Health and Safety Executive management standards. HSE management standards indicator tool for evaluating your parliament's performance in creating a workplace that optimises health and productivity. Accessible from: <u>https://www.hse.gov.uk/stress/ standards/index.htm</u>
- 4. Guarding Minds at Work, "a comprehensive resource to help you assess and address psychological health and safety in your workplace". Guarding Minds at Work was commissioned by Canada Life and additional resources are supported by Workplace Strategies for Mental Health. Accessible from: <u>https://www.guardingmindsatwork.ca/</u>
- 5. Managing Mental Health Risks at Work Training for Managers and Employees by Headsup/

Beyond Blue. A free, online training guide on supporting an employee with a mental health problem. Accessible from: https://elearn.headsup.org.au/course/view.php?id=2

- HSE Talking Toolkit. A guide for line managers on having initial conversations with employees 6. regarding work-related stress. Accessible from: https://www.hse.gov.uk/stress/assets/docs/ stress-talking-toolkit.pdf
- 7. NHS self-help guides and tools on exercise for mental health. Accessible from: https://www. nhs.uk/mental-health/self-help/guides-tools-and-activities/exercise-for-depression/
- 8. Mental Health Foundation guidance on diet and mental health. Accessible from: https:// www.mentalhealth.org.uk/a-to-z/d/diet-and-mental-health
- 9. Mind guidance on diet and mental health. Tips and a video on "food and mood". Accessible from: https://www.mind.org.uk/information-support/tips-for-everyday-living/food-andmood/about-food-and-mood/
- 10. Better Health (NHS UK). Amongst other resources, this website lists apps that can assist in improving exercise, alcohol consumption and dietary habits (scroll to the end of the page for the list of apps). Accessible from: https://www.nhs.uk/better-health/#apps-and-tools
- 11. Beyond Blue. This organisation works in partnership with governments, local health services, educational institutions, workplaces, media and community organisations, as well as the general community to raise community awareness about anxiety and depression and reduce the associated stigma. Accessible from: http://beyondblue.org.au/

PARLIAMENTARY CONVERSATIONS IN THE COMMONWEALTH: A **CPA PODCAST**

PARLIAMENTARY

CONVERSATIONS

THE COMMONWEALTH

Parliamentary Conversations in the Commonwealth, a CPA podcast, gives a voice to parliamentarians, civil society experts and activists across the Commonwealth to discuss common democratic challenges and share their ideas on what can be done to solve them. In a recent episode former Australian Prime Minister, Julia Gillard, discussed women in politics and mental health.

Accessible from: https:// www.cpahq.org/knowledgecentre/cpa-podcast/

C. Organisational support

There are various support organisations that Parliaments may partner with to provide mental health support for Parliamentarians and parliamentary support staff. In our survey, several respondents indicated the use of employee assistance programmes (EAPs) as their main mental health and wellness service providers. In addition, some Parliaments offer on-site occupational health nurses and/or doctors to address mental and other health needs on a regular basis. Smaller parliaments might also use shared services with wider public service/government. This should be considered for economies of scale.

Given the spectrum and course of mental ill health and the levels of intervention at primary, secondary and tertiary levels (see p.13), all these services should ideally be integrated when available. Standard screening and referral processes for mental health support should be in place at each contact point: EAPs should know when and how to refer clients to occupational, community health or specialised services where necessary, while occupational health services should also appropriately refer clients to community health or specialised services as needed. In



some cases, community health services should be able to refer a client to access EAP services where appropriate. The integration of mental health care into general health care has several advantages, including improved access, less stigma, improved continuity of care, better outcomes (for both mental and other health), easier reintegration into usual job and social functioning, and cost effectiveness^{94,95}.

Figure 8: Integration of Various Support Services Through Referral



Employee Assistance Programmes (EAPs)

EAPs typically offer a range of services that span physical, mental, and financial wellbeing, and legal and occupational support. Services are usually delivered via online portals, email newsletters, telephonic assessment and counselling (which often includes 24/7 trauma debriefing and support), and on-site health screening, or screening at executive medical suites. EAP service providers generally provide organisational-level reporting on risk and service utilisation.

While evidence for the effectiveness of EAPs remains equivocal for some health outcomes^{96.97}, it may be particularly useful in the provision of mental health support^{98.99}, and especially as a primary intervention that can include screening, assessment, and referral to more specialised services, if needed. EAPs can also play an important role in education on mental health, as part of an awareness campaign.

One of the advantages of EAPs is the confidentiality it provides. Service users with mental health concerns may feel more comfortable accessing a third-party service than making use of in-house services for fear of unfair discrimination or stigma⁹⁶. Confidentiality is also particularly important in a parliamentary environment where Parliamentarians may be hypervigilant about maintaining their privacy when it relates to their personal matters, given the constant media scrutiny as mentioned in p.6. Another advantage of EAPs is that services are usually sponsored by the employer/client organisation, allowing users access to services at no direct cost.

It is important to partner with an EAP that is committed to improving mental health care access, incorporates professional health care expertise, and suits the needs of your parliament in terms of modes of access, parliament size, and budget for mental health support. Consider checking the following items when choosing an EAP (adapted from The Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA, USA)¹⁰⁰):

Questions to Ask When Choosing an EAP for Your Parliament

- The EAP provider's credentials: for example, does it belong to a professional EAP association, and are health care professionals who work for the EAP registered with the relevant health authorities?
- The educational level of members on the professional staff of the EAP.
- References from previous/current clients.
- Does the EAP provide onsite education and training services?
- What are the fees? Check that the fee structure does not disincentivise utilisation or acceptance of referrals.
- How many counselling sessions are included and what type of counselling is offered?
- How will the service be accessed? Consider your need for remote access for traveling Parliamentarians or staff, or onsite access for larger, concentrated Parliaments.
- How are referrals handled incoming and outgoing? How does the EAP connect with other health care providers and human resources staff?
- What type of monitoring and evaluation is offered, and at what frequency?
- How does the EAP address stigma against mental ill health, and how will it help promote access to the service?
- How does the EAP integrate mental health services with other relevant services (e.g. general health screening, legal and occupational assistance)?

PARLIAMENTARY CASE STUDIES:

NATIONAL ASSEMBLY OF QUÉBEC

A number of principles underpin the EAP service for the National Assembly of Québec. These include confidentiality, voluntary participation, the absence of prejudice, and funded accessibility. Several measures are in place in support of these principles¹⁰¹:

- "Before any intervention, the in-house psychologist or health advisor will verify that the request for help is voluntary.
- A closed office outside the National Assembly building, with direct access to the street and a dedicated phone line, is available to the in-house psychologist to ensure confidentiality.
- Relevant information is kept in a file for the exclusive use of the EAP psychologist; these files are coded and kept under lock and key.
- No information may be transmitted to a third party without the explicit authorization of the person using the program's services.
- All correspondence addressed to the EAP and marked "PERSONAL" or "CONFIDENTIAL" is opened only by the in-house psychologist or health advisor.
- In the event of a dispute or grievance, no one will be able to invoke the fact that a person is or is not using the EAP.
- In the event of a dispute or grievance, neither the employer nor the union may use the in-house psychologist or health advisor as an expert or witness"¹⁰¹.

THE QUEENSLAND PARLIAMENT¹⁰²

The Queensland Parliament has a long-standing provision of employee assistance services (EAS) through and external private sector company. The Queensland Government has a "preferred supplier list" of EAPs/EASs, from which the current service provider has been selected. Additional counselling by psychologists is also available when more tailored support is required.

GUIDANCE

Occupational health services

Onsite occupational health services offer the advantage of providing a confidential, integrated health support service to Parliamentarians and parliamentary support staff. This may be particularly helpful where multi-disease burden is common, for larger parliaments, and where Parliamentarians and staff are concentrated in one location.

PARLIAMENTARY CASE STUDIES:

LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY OF ONTARIO¹⁰³

• In addition to an EAP and other initiatives, a daily onsite occupational health nursing service is provided. The service is confidential.

GAUTENG PROVINCIAL LEGISLATURE¹⁰⁴

- In addition to an EAP and other initiatives, the Gauteng Provincial Legislature provides a full-time onsite occupational health nursing service, supported by a part-time doctor. Consultation and basic management of health needs are offered.
- Mental health is included in a comprehensive occupational health strategy, which also includes the management of chronic illness, HIV/AIDS, and tuberculosis.

UK PARLIAMENT¹⁰⁵

 Along with several other support services, an on-site nurse clinic and GP service is provided. The GP service is limited to the House of Commons, while staff can access GP support via referral to a local medical centre.

NATIONAL ASSEMBLY OF QUÉBEC

• The National Assembly of Québec has had a full-time in-house psychologist attached to the Human Resources Department for more than 15 years. A health advisor position has recently been created to support the psychologist.

Focus on return to work

Whereas EAP and occupational health services typically fulfil primary (preventative) and secondary (diagnosis, treatment and personal resilience) intervention functions, organisational mental health intervention at the tertiary level should focus on returning the person affected by mental ill health to his/her regular job function wherever possible, and supporting the maintenance of recovery and rehabilitation. The following steps may aid in a successful return to work (adapted from the WHO^{37}):

GUIDANCE

Steps to Aid in Successful Return to Work:

- Active communication with the affected person's treating mental health care professional regarding job requirements, duties, workload and related potential stressors. This will assist in determining a safe return to work date, and necessary accommodations.
- Encourage early, appropriate return to work in consultation with the treating mental health professional. The earlier the return the less the stress about income loss, and the easier the reintegration into usual duties. Find the right balance between recovery away from and in the work situation.
- Consider reasonable accommodations such as gradual return to work, with enough time to attend mental health care activities such as counselling or health care consultations. Make sure that the extent and limitations of these accommodations are understood by all parties concerned.

It is important to only discuss or disclose any of these matters with the full consent of the affected person.

Peer support

Peer support involves the training and appointment of mental health champions among Parliamentarians and parliamentary support staff. These are typically people with a passion for the cause, an interest in mental health, and/or lived experience of mental ill health – either in themselves, family members, or other close associates. The advantages of peer support include relatability, less stigma, and integrity, especially in peer supports with lived experience. Peer support has been reported to serve as an effective prevention strategy, and to provide a sense of empowerment, to support symptom improvement, to reduce hospitalisation and to improve quality of life¹⁰⁶. Peer support can be delivered in groups or one-on-one, and can be a person's first step towards recovery and accessing support for mental ill health, or be accessed later in their journey to better mental health¹⁰⁶. See the text box for key issues to consider when setting up a peer support intervention in your Parliament (adapted from the WHO¹⁰⁷):

Key issues to consider when setting up a peer support intervention in your Parliament

- The **type** of peer support, e.g. one-to-one, groups, or other.
- The format, e.g. discussion, shared activities (outings, lectures)
- The **location** where support meetings will be held. Consider a designated location in the case of physical meetings; consider online options where necessary for people who cannot access the physical location.
- Access to peer support, e.g. an open door policy, by referral, via invitation from existing members, or other.
- How will the peer-support service connect with other services like community health services, EAPs, occupational health services, and human resource management? Define the referral processes.

Focus areas of the peer support service. Options include:

- General discussion and sharing of experiences
- Crisis support
- Decision-making support
- Reintegration into work after a leave of absence
- Education and training on mental health or related topics, e.g. workplace harassment Information on mental health support resources

Define the **parameters and roles** within the peer-support process, including:

- The facilitator or online moderator's role
- Ground rules
- Confidentiality and privacy
- Process to follow when supporting someone in a crisis situation, and when and how to refer to professional services
- Process of joining the support service
- Criteria for becoming a peer support provider



Resources required to provide a peer support service. These may include peer supporters, administrative staff, a dedicated location, etc. Consider the **training and skills** required to provide accredited and evidence-based peer support services.

Training and strategies to ensure legal capacity, noncoercive practices, participation, community inclusion and recovery orientation"¹⁰⁷, where

- "legal capacity" refers, among other, to ensuring voluntary attendance, respect for individual experience, autonomy, recognition of human rights and informed consent.
- "non-coercive practices" refer to supporting victims of abuse or harassment and individualised plans for dealing with distress and sensitivities.
- "participation" refers to people with lived experience taking the lead in all aspects of the peer-support service and the collection of feedback from service users to further develop and improve the service
- "community inclusion" refers to the peer support service assisting with reintegration into the community and accessing community-based resources. In the parliamentary context, this may involve support for reintegration into a job function and referral or guidance on accessing community-based or other workplace-based support services.
- "recovery" refers to considering people in the broader context of their entire life and experience as opposed to focusing only on diagnosis, treatment and symptom reduction, and including a recovery plan that includes future goals. The WHO indicates five pillars of recovery which should form part of the peer support service approach, namely "(1) connectedness, (2) hope and optimism, (3) identity, (4) meaning and purpose and (5) self-empowerment"¹⁰⁷.

Peer support: Resources

- 1. Peer support groups by and for people with lived experience: WHO Quality Rights guidance module. Accessible from: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/329644</u>
- 2. One-to-one peer support by and for people with lived experience. WHO Quality Rights guidance module. Accessible from: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/hand le/10665/329591/9789241516785-eng.pdf</u>
- Mind (Leeds) Peer Support in the Workplace. Offers a "range of training and support to help organisations develop and sustain peer support which include consultancy for organisations in the development and implementation of peer support, training for employees in how to establish a peer support group or network, and facilitation of the peer support group or network, if desired". Accessible from: <u>https://www.leedsmind.org.uk/help-for-employers/peer-support-in-the-workplace/</u>
- 4. Peer Support Canada. "Offers certification for Peer Supporters, Family Peer Supporters, and for Peer Support Mentors. Peer Support Certification is a confirmation of one's knowledge, skills, and experience as a peer supporter. Certification verifies one's alignment with the nationally endorsed Standard of Practice, and is recognized across Canada". "Peer Support Canada and the Canadian Mental Health Association (CMHA) joined together in early 2018 in an effort to expand peer support in this country". Accessible from: https://peersupportcanada.ca/

PARLIAMENTARY CASE STUDY: THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY OF THE NORTHERN TERRITORY





Mental Health First Aid (MHFA) is an international training programme for laypeople. The aim is to advance knowledge about mental illness, learn how to recognise it, decrease stigma against mental illness, increase confidence and skills in dealing with someone with mental illness, and to know how to connect a person in distress or in need of help with appropriate mental health resources¹⁰⁸. While the evidence for the effectiveness of MHFA in improving outcomes for recipients is still emerging, it has been shown to boost trainees' knowledge and confidence in dealing with mental ill health¹⁰⁸. MHFA training may be of value for Human Resources staff, managerial staff, peer supporters, mental health champions, and those dealing directly with constituents. See the resources section below for more information.

Mental health first aid Resources

- 1. Mental Health First Aid (Better Health Channel). Accessible from: <u>https://www.betterhealth.</u> <u>vic.gov.au/health/healthyliving/Mental-health-first-aid</u>
- 2. WHO Psychological First Aid: Guide for Field Workers. Accessible from: <u>https://apps.who.int/</u> <u>iris/bitstream/handle/10665/44615/9789241548205_eng.pdf;sequence=1</u>
- 3. WHO Psychological First Aid: Facilitator's manual for orienting field workers. Accessible from: <u>https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/psychological-first-aid</u>

X TET

We list below several providers of MHFA training and support:

- 1. Mental Health First Aid International. Accessible from: <u>https://mhfainternational.org/</u>
- 2. Mental Health First Aid England. Accessible from: <u>https://mhfaengland.org/</u>
- 3. Mental Health First Aid Australia. Accessible from: https://mhfa.com.au/
- 4. Mental Health First Aid Canada. Accessible from: https://mhfa.ca/
- 5. St John's Ambulance (UK) Mental Health First Aid for the workplace. Accessible from: https://www.sja.org.uk/courses/workplace-mental-health-first-aid/
- 6. St John's Ambulance (Australia) Mental Health First Aid. Accessible from: <u>https://stjohnwa.com.au/first-aid-training/mental-health</u>

Awareness campaigns

Visible awareness campaigns can help reduce stigma about mental ill health, and communicate and affirm your Parliament's attitude toward mental health.

PARLIAMENTARY CASE STUDIES:

MANITOBA LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY¹⁰⁹

The importance of mental health was highlighted at a 'Let's Talk Lunch and Learn' seminar for Assembly staff. Representatives of the Anxieties Disorders Association of Manitoba (ADAM) presented on topics including mental health awareness and strategies to deal with mental health problems. This was supported by information sheets on coping strategies, as well as a discussion session.

During the COVID-19 pandemic, the importance of mental health was stressed by the Speaker via periodic messages to Assembly staff, as well as informal emails to check in with staff.

'Mental Health in Politics' was a topic at the 2017 Canadian Region CPA Conference, hosted in Manitoba. Presenters included the Executive Director of the Mood Disorders Association of Manitoba, a former Minister of Health and of Healthy Living who had publicly spoken about her mental health challenges, and a Political Scientist who had published on the topic of mental health in politics.

PARLIAMENT OF TYNWALD¹¹⁰

As part of its Continuing Professional Development programme, the Office of the Clerk of Tynwald has included several sessions on mental health-related subjects, including:

- A Mental Health England accredited course on mental health first aid
- 'Mental Health: Coping with Change', which addressed the management of resistance and fear, and preparing for and dealing with life changes
- A half-day mental health awareness training session as part of the induction programme for new Members
- A half-day mental health awareness training session for parliamentary staff

Different providers have been involved in running these sessions, including the Department of Health & Social Care and local private organisations.

LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY OF ONTARIO¹⁰³

The Legislative Assembly of Ontario partnered with the Canadian Mental Health Association to offer webinars on workplace mental health training for all Parliamentarians and their legislative and constituency office staff.

UK PARLIAMENT¹⁰⁵

In recognition of International Men's Day (19 November), a panel discussion was hosted by the Diversity & Inclusion team, in collaboration with Health and Wellbeing, and ParliGENDER. The traditionally taboo subjects of male mental health and suicide were discussed, highlighting the "silent crisis" for many men who suffer from mental ill health and face challenges in talking about it and asking for help.
Advice for smaller parliaments

Though structured resources like EAP's and occupational health services may not be easily implementable in smaller Parliaments, the need for mental health support in these Parliaments may be no less significant that in larger ones. The systemic initiatives discussed in the previous section should also be considered in smaller Parliaments, as well as an effort to proactively assess the need for mental health support (see the previous chapters in this toolkit on 'A. Recognising Needs, and Prioritisation' and 'B. Systemic Initiatives with Mental Health Benefits').

Where contracting of EAPs may not be feasible at provincial parliamentary level, a shared service across Provincial Parliaments may be of use. In smaller Parliaments, simple initiatives around peer support, culture change, and self-help may be of particular value, along with good relationships with community support resources, including local health care providers, and clear signposting for Parliamentarians and support staff on how to connect with these resources.

At the primary intervention stage – i.e., preventing mental ill health from occurring by reducing risk and contributing factors – workplace culture, peer support and self-help may assist in reducing the development of mental ill health. In addition to the guidance documented in the previous sections, the following may be particularly pertinent to smaller Parliaments:

- Create a culture where mental health and mental ill health can be spoken about without fear of unfair discrimination. Empathy goes a long way in making people feel more comfortable to talk about their challenges and ask for help, and a supportive colleague or manager may be an important feature on the road to recovery. General awareness and sensitivity to mental health will also help break the stigma and taboo around mental health.
- In any Parliament, but particularly small ones where everyone might know each other, gossip may be a challenge. Be sensitive to and protective of the privacy and confidentiality of someone who entrusts you with information about their mental health. This does not mean you should take on the burden of diagnosing and treating them. Sometimes, simply listening and acknowledging someone's struggle is all they need. If there is an opportunity to do so, or if you are concerned that the person may require assistance from a mental health professional, guide them to the appropriate resources. To ensure that the required listening and support skills are available in your Parliament, MHFA training of at least one person may be valuable (see Mental Health First Aid, on p.32).

PARLIAMENTARY CASE STUDY:

PARLIAMENT OF TASMANIA¹¹¹

In the relatively small Parliament of Tasmania, "there are frequent dialogues with managers and staff about mental health and in some cases bespoke training may be provided to staff or managers such as 'mental health first aid' or courses in managing stress, dealing with performance and workload".

The Parliament also recognises the need to address systemic issues that may impact mental health: "We also keep an eye on interpersonal conflicts and issues between staff because it is acknowledged that bullying and discriminatory behaviour or unfair treatment can be an indicator of or lead to mental health issues if not dealt with. Tackling these sort[s] of issues through performance or disciplinary processes, mediation and other forms of dispute resolution are important measures to address mental health in the workplace".

PARLIAMENTARY CASE STUDY: THE STATES OF DELIBERATION, GUERNSEY¹¹²

Although there are only three members of staff in this Parliament, two have been trained in MHFA through a two-day course delivered by Guernsey Mind through MHFA England (see p.33 for more information). "Both hold Mental Health First Aid (MHFA) England certificates valid for three years".

At the secondary and tertiary levels of intervention, particularly when someone has to take a leave of absence on account of mental ill health, the WHO's guide on good practice regarding Mental Health and Work³⁷ for smaller organisations can be adapted for smaller Parliaments:

- The Chief Human Resource Officer or representative should engage with the staff member who is on medical or disability leave for mental ill health as soon as appropriate. This will help cultivate a feeling of support and should focus on encouraging early return to work, as appropriate.
- Aim to return the affected person to his or her original job function. Consider reasonable accommodations like flexible work hours or adjusted travel requirements where possible.
- Make use of community resources such as local rehabilitation services, support groups, and community health services.
- Communicate (with the consent of the affected staff member or Parliamentarian) with his/her treating mental health care professional regarding job requirements and possible accommodations.

The section on self-help on the following page may also be of particular use to smaller Parliaments where more structured and potentially costly external support services may not be feasible. With the growing recognition of the importance of workplace mental health, online support resources are proliferating. Have a look at our section on 'Self-help: Resources' on p.40 for more information on free resources.

PARLIAMENTARY CASE STUDY: NATIONAL ASSEMBLY OF QUÉBEC¹⁰¹

In addition to several existing initiatives to support mental health, the National Assembly of Québec is planning a "virtual health break" programme: once a month, a 15-minute virtual meeting will be "accessible to all people working at the National Assembly, during which topics related to mental health and overall health" will be discussed.

This is a fairly easily-implementable intervention for smaller Parliaments. Given the relatively short time commitment, it may also be easily accessible to those who wish to participate. The fact that it is delivered online, further promotes accessibility.

These types of online events are ideal for showcasing and creating awareness of mental health in your Parliament, disseminating information on available support resources and relevant policies, and for demonstrating basic self-help techniques like breathing exercises, mindfulness, and meditation (see the next section on 'Self-help').

D. Self-help

Current evidence suggests that comprehensive interventions that address individual, organisational and work-environment issues are more successful than strategies that address only a single aspect of workplace mental health promotion^{64,113}. Individual resilience is not sufficient in the absence of the systemic and organisational support mechanisms discussed above, but it is necessary for a successful mental health promotion strategy. Across the primary, secondary and tertiary intervention stages for supporting mental health (see p.13), individual resilience building has an important role to play.

Online cognitive behavioural therapy

With the advent of internet technology and telehealth solutions, which had a significant boost during the COVID-19 pandemic, remote and technology-based mental health support solutions are proliferating. While the scientific evidence base for many of these new developments is in the process of being established, some interventions are emerging as potentially beneficial self-help tools.

As an individually-focussed intervention, cognitive behavioural therapy has been shown to be the most effective workplace intervention for mental health improvement.^{114–116} Internet-delivered cognitive behavioural therapy (ICBT) has been fairly well studied¹¹² and shown to improve depression, anxiety and other mental health outcomes¹¹⁸.

Beating the Blues¹¹⁹ is an ICBT application promoted by health authorities in some Commonwealth countries^{120–122}. It consists of eight automated online CBT sessions and has been shown to improve depression and anxiety outcomes, as well as work and social adjustment^{123,124}. Moodgym, a similar ICBT application, is freely available to Australians through funding from the Australian Commonwealth Department of Health and Ageing¹²⁵.

Mindfulness

"Mindfulness" refers to a focused awareness of sensations in the present moment – in our surrounding environment, as well as internally, within our physical bodies and emotional experiences. It requires a measure of objectivity and curiosity when examining these sensations, coupled with an attitude of self-empathy^{126,127}. Two types of standardised mindfulness-based interventions are increasingly used in Western psychology, namely Mindfulness-Based Stress Reduction (MBSR) and Mindfulness-Based Cognitive Therapy (MBCT)^{128,130}, the latter building on the principles of MBSR and integrating a cognitive approach¹³⁰. Both are group-based therapies delivered over eight weeks and teach mindfulness skills and practices. Mindfulness-based interventions have been shown to improve mental health outcomes, including for depression and anxiety ^{128,129,131}.

In a report by the UK Parliament's Mindfulness All-Party Parliamentarian Group¹²⁶, mindfulness is described as "one of the most promising prevention strategies and is regarded as popular and non-stigmatising, unlike some other mental health interventions". The group encourages government departments to develop mindfulness programmes for staff in the public sector "to combat stress and improve organisational effectiveness"¹²⁶. The report also quotes feedback from Parliamentarians who attended mindfulness classes in Westminster, suggesting that it could be of particular benefit to Parliamentarians and parliamentary support staff. We represent some of the quotes contained in the Mindfulness All-Party Parliamentarian Group report on the next page.

"The mindfulness course has been of great benefit to me both personally and professionally. The mindfulness breathing techniques and practical exercises have helped me to cope much better with the stresses and strains of a highly demanding job and gain a better work-life balance."

> "I found the course extremely helpful in focusing my mind, reducing stress and improving concentration."

"For anyone looking to find a way of balancing the often competing demands of home, work, and not least, ourselves, it's worth their checking out an introduction to mindfulness. Too often we overlook the basics in our lives and to find a way of connecting with what really matters."

> "Mindfulness need not be thought of only as a 'cure' for those in need, it also helps one to know how to...enjoy living a life of service. I have found the mindfulness course amazingly helpful."26

Mindfulness-based interventions can be delivered in person or via online applications, the latter proliferating as people tend to increasingly seek support via self-and tele-support solutions.

Which app?

While the demand for internet-based mental health support solutions is rising rapidly and new applications are being developed to meet these demands, scientific evidence-building may lag behind. It is ideal to choose applications and tools that have been shown to be effective through robust scientific enquiry. The conundrum currently faced in this environment, however, is that scientific review and publication may only be finalised once the technology has already become outdated¹³². The National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH, US)¹³² suggests some key issues to interrogate when choosing an application for mental health support:

Key Issues to Consider When Evaluating a Mental Health Intervention App

- Ask a trusted health care provider or institution for a recommendation
- Check that the app includes recommendations on dealing with worsening symptoms and psychiatric emergencies
- Consider whether you want a fully automated app or one that connects with a health care professional or appropriately trained person
- Check the credentials and experience of the app developer
- Beware of misleading or fraudulent logos in marketing material
- Search trusted health science information websites to verify information. If there is no information on the particular app, check if the treatment it is based on has been tested.
- Do a test-run and try out the app to see if it works technically, and if it is user-friendly and engaging

The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) in the UK publishes reviews and recommendations regarding new digitally enabled therapies for mental health problems through its Improving Access to Psychological Therapies initiative^{133,134}. The National Health Service (NHS, UK) also maintains a list of technology applications that meet its basic quality standards¹³⁵. When assessing a new application or technology for use or promotion in your Parliament, consider checking these and similar reports for evidence-based therapies. See the Resources section below for more information.

Self-help: resources

- I. Doing What Matters in Times of Stress: An Illustrated Guide by the WHO. Includes guidance on stress management for coping with adversity. "The guide aims to equip people with practical skills to help cope with stress. A few minutes each day are enough to practice the self-help techniques. The guide can be used alone or with the accompanying audio exercises. Informed by evidence and extensive field testing, the guide is for anyone who experiences stress, wherever they live and whatever their circumstances". Accessible from: <u>https://www. who.int/publications/i/item/9789240003927</u>
- 2. Beating the Blues offers online cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT) for mild to moderate depression and anxiety. "This online CBT course enables users to work through modules to learn about and apply the principles of CBT at a time and place to suit each individual". The course comprises of eight sessions. Accessible from: https://www.beatingtheblues.co.uk/
- 3. NHS Apps Library. "Find apps and online tools to help you manage your health and wellbeing". Accessible from: <u>https://www.nhs.uk/apps-library/</u>
- 4. NICE Digital therapies assessed and accepted by the Improving Access to Psychological Therapies Programme (IAPT). Contains a list of all of the digital therapies that have been assessed by the programme. Accessible from: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/about/what-wedo/our-programmes/nice-advice/improving-access-to-psychological-therapies--iapt-/ submitting-a-product-to-iapt#published-IABs</u>
- 5. Get Your Mind Plan, by Every Mind Matter (NHS). A 5-item online quiz which generates an action plan for working towards your personal mental wellbeing. Accessible from: <u>https://www.nhs.uk/every-mind-matters/mental-wellbeing-tips/your-mind-plan-quiz/</u>
- 6. NHS self-help guides and tools on exercise for mental health. Accessible from: <u>https://www.nhs.uk/mental-health/self-help/guides-tools-and-activities/exercise-for-depression/</u>
- 7. Mental Health Foundation guidance on diet and mental health. Accessible from: <u>https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/a-to-z/d/diet-and-mental-health</u>
- Mind guidance on diet and mental health. Tips and a video on "food and mood". Accessible from: <u>https://www.mind.org.uk/information-support/tips-for-everyday-living/food-and-mood/about-food-and-mood/</u>
- 9. Better Health (NHS UK). Amongst other resources, this website lists apps that can assist in improving exercise, alcohol consumption and dietary habits (scroll to the end of the page for the list of apps). Accessible from: https://www.nhs.uk/better-health/#apps-and-tools



E. Constituent support

Given the rising prevalence of mental health disorders across most societies, Parliamentarians and parliamentary staff may be increasingly confronted by mental health problems affecting constituents. In a 2008 report by the All-Party Parliamentary Group on Mental Health (UK)²⁸, 88% of Parliamentarians and 72% of Peers surveyed were reported to have voted on mental health-related bills in Parliament. Parliamentarians tasked with mental health policy-making should have a reasonable understanding of mental health, its complexity and interconnectedness to all aspects of health and society, and its far-reaching impacts. While public mental health policy-making is outside the scope of this toolkit, we recognise that Parliamentarians and staff may also be confronted with mental health problems presented directly by individual constituents. These interactions may, in turn, be taxing on the mental health of Parliamentarians and staff. In the same 2008 report mentioned above²⁸, every Parliamentarian surveyed indicated that they had encountered people with mental health problems through their parliamentary duties.

Following an increasing number of Parliamentarians who approached them regarding advice for supporting mental health problems of constituents, the All-Party Parliamentary Group on Mental Health, in partnership with Mind, Rethink Mental Illness, and the Royal College of Psychiatrists, published a guide for UK Parliamentarians and staffers on dealing with mental health-related problems presented by constituents¹³⁶. The guide includes the following:

- an overview of common mental health disorders,
- advice on how to listen and engage with someone with a mental health problem and/or in distress,
- advice on dealing with the risk of harm or aggression and the handling of challenging correspondence,
- guidance on setting boundaries and establishing a supportive office environment for colleagues confronted with these issues, and
- advice on the distribution of information regarding support services¹³⁶.

Please see our section on Resources below for more information on this guide:

MIND GUIDE TO MENTAL HEALTH FOR MPS AND STAFFERS

Together with *Rethink Mental Illness* and the *Royal College of Psychiatrists* as part of the All Party Parliamentary Group for Mental Health, Mind produced a booklet which sets out practical ways for Parliamentarians and staffers to support constituents with mental health problems. It includes information on:

- Common mental health problems
- Handling difficult emails and phone calls
- Signposting and local information

Accessible from: <u>https://www.mind.org.uk/about-us/</u> our-policy-work/our-work-in-parliament/mps-andstaffers-guide-to-mental-health/



F. Monitoring & evaluation

As with any formal organisational initiative, it is important to monitor and evaluate mental health support initiatives in your Parliament in order to assess their effectiveness, cost-effectiveness, evolution of needs, and outcomes. It is ideal to start with an initial needs assessment (see our earlier section on *A. Recognising Needs, and Prioritisation*') to help inform your strategy, and to provide a baseline status against which to measure outcomes. Reasonable agility in implementation may also increase chances of success. This requires regular monitoring and evaluation, and revision of strategy and implementation as required. Aspects to consider when monitoring your mental health strategy include the following (from The Mental Health Commission of Canada¹³⁷):

Key Considerations When Monitoring Your Mental Health Strategy (from The Mental Health Commission of Canada¹³⁷):



As described in our previous section on 'A. Recognising Needs, and Prioritisation', measures to consider include aspects of organisational culture and prioritisation of mental health, comfort in disclosing need for help, access to support, workplace contributors to mental health strain, and signs and symptoms of mental ill health. Here, absenteeism may be a useful parameter, along with objective symptom assessment tools such as the PHQ-9¹³⁸, GAD-7¹³⁹, and AUDIT¹⁴⁰. Again, as stated in our previous section Confidentiality is Key (p.16), it is imperative to always maintain the confidentiality of sensitive information collected from programme participants.

Ж

Monitoring & evaluation: Resources

1. WHO guide on Monitoring and Evaluation of Mental Health Policies and Plans. Accessible from: https:// www.who.int/mental_health/policy/monitoring_and_ evaluation of mental health policies and plan.pdf

| EVA MEN | | |
|--------------------------------|--|--|
| (World Health Organization | Canada monitoring and malastime at a control n monitor funding and and plane an other to improve and a parality factor and to parality factor and of parality factor and parality factors. | |

MENTAL HEALTH POLICIES AND PROGRAMMES IN THE WORKPLACE

 (\mathbf{a})

WHO Mental Health Policy and Service Guidance 2. Package on Mental Health Policies and Programmes in The Workplace. Accessible from: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/</u> bitstream/handle/10665/43337/9241546794_eng.pdf

Conclusion

Parliamentarians and parliamentary support staff face unique challenges to their mental health. They work in high-pressure environments, often characterised by demanding working hours, long-standing cultures of abuse and harassment, intensifying public scrutiny, competitiveness and tension between control and outcomes in the performance of their duties. That these are risk factors for mental ill health are obvious. Mental health support in Parliament starts with an open and honest investigation of the needs, followed by gaining commitment from relevant decision-makers to change the *status quo*, implementing evidence-based strategies, and continuously monitoring and evaluating progress.



There can be no health without mental health, and this is as true for Parliamentarians and support staff as it is for anyone else. There are several support options available which can be chosen from and customised to suit your Parliament's needs. It is incumbent on all Parliaments to protect and promote the mental health of Parliamentarians and support staff to ensure healthy parliamentary life, meaningful productivity in Parliament, and, ultimately, healthy democracies.

Further Reading & Resources

All-party Parliamentary Group (APPG) on Mental Health (UK).



"The APPG focuses on many issues important to improving mental health services. Recently we have conducted meetings into the reforms to the Mental Health Act, which will cover the reception, care and treatment of mentally unwell people." Further information accessible from: https://www.rethink.org/get-involved/campaign-with-us/the-difference-we-make/appg-onmental-health/

Another useful resource for further information on the terminology used around mental health conidtions is UK mental health charity Mind's glossary of such terms, accessible from the following link: https://www.mind.org.uk/information-support/types-of-mental-health-problems/

References

- 1. Physical health and mental health | Mental Health Foundation. Accessed November 18, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/a-to-z/p/physical-health-and-mental-health</u>
- Connection Between Mental and Physical Health. Accessed November 18, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://ontario.cmha.ca/documents/connection-between-mental-and-physicalhealth/</u>
- Ohrnberger J, Fichera E, Sutton M. The relationship between physical and mental health: A mediation analysis. Social Science & Medicine. 2017;195:42-49. doi:10.1016/J. SOCSCIMED.2017.11.008. Accessible from: <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/S0277953617306639</u>
- 4. Polyakov M, Sale J, Kline S, Saxena S. "NO HEALTH WITHOUT MENTAL HEALTH": The Urgent Need or Mental Health Integration in Universal Health Coverage. United for Global Health. Published online 2020. Accessed October 6, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https:// unitedgmh.org/sites/default/files/2020-12/Universal%20Health%20Coverage%20-%20</u> No%20Health%20Without%20Mental%20Health.pdf
- 5. Mental health: strengthening our response. Accessed October 6, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/mental-health-strengthening-our-response</u>
- M P, V P, S S, et al. No health without mental health. Lancet (London, England). 2007;370(9590):859-877. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(07)61238-0. Accessible from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17804063/</u>
- 7. Department of Health UK Government. No health without mental health. Published online 2011. Accessed October 6, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/215811/dh_124057.pdf</u>
- 8. Mental health: strengthening our response. Accessed November 18, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/mental-health-strengthening-our-response</u>
- 9. Pillay AL, Kramers-Olen AL. COVID-19, psychosocial issues, politics, and public mental health care: https://doi.org/101177/00812463211015750. 2021;51(2):293-303. doi:10.1177/00812463211015750. Accessible from: <u>https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/ full/10.1177/00812463211015750</u>
- Giuntella O, Hyde K, Saccardo S, Sadoff S. Lifestyle and mental health disruptions during COVID-19. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2021;118(9). doi:10.1073/PNAS.2016632118/-/DCSUPPLEMENTAL. Accessible from: <u>https:// pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33571107/</u>
- 11. Kwong ASF, Pearson RM, Adams MJ, et al. Mental health before and during the COVID-19 pandemic in two longitudinal UK population cohorts. The British Journal of Psychiatry. 2021;218(6):334-343. doi:10.1192/BJP.2020.242. Accessible from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33228822/</u>
- 12. Wooyoung Kim A, Nyengerai T, Mendenhall E, Walsh EA. Evaluating the Mental Health Impacts of the COVID-19 Pandemic in Urban South Africa: Perceived Risk of COVID-19 Infection and Childhood Trauma Predict Adult Depressive Symptoms. medRxiv. Published online June 16, 2020:2020.06.13.20130120. doi:10.1101/2020.06.13.20130120. Accessible from: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7520640/</u>

X

- Gasteiger N, Vedhara K, Massey A, et al. Depression, anxiety and stress during the COVID-19 pandemic: results from a New Zealand cohort study on mental well-being. BMJ open. 2021;11(5). doi:10.1136/BMJOPEN-2020-045325. Accessible from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.</u> <u>nih.gov/33941630/</u>
- Pandey D, Bansal S, Goyal S, et al. Psychological impact of mass quarantine on population during pandemics—The COVID-19 Lock-Down (COLD) study. PLOS ONE. 2020;15(10):e0240501. doi:10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0240501. Accessible from: <u>https:// pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33091020/</u>
- Czeisler MÉ, Lane RI, Petrosky E, et al. Mental Health, Substance Use, and Suicidal Ideation During the COVID-19 Pandemic — United States, June 24–30, 2020. MMWR Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report. 2020;69(32):1049-1057. doi:10.15585/MMWR.MM6932A1. Accessible from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34174556/</u>
- 16. Rajasthan Legislative Assembly. CPA Mental Health Toolkit Survey Response. Published online 2022.
- Nielsen L, Hinrichsen C, Madsen KR, et al. Participation in social leisure activities may benefit mental health particularly among individuals that lack social connectedness at work or school. Mental Health and Social Inclusion. 2021;25(4):341-351. doi:10.1108/MHSI-06-2021-0026/FULL/HTML
- 18. Santini ZI, Koushede V, Hinrichsen C, et al. Challenging leisure activities and mental health: are they more beneficial for some people than for others? Mental Health and Social Inclusion. Published online 2021. doi:10.1108/MHSI-06-2021-0033/FULL/XML
- 19. Umberson D, Karas Montez J. Social Relationships and Health: A Flashpoint for Health Policy. Journal of health and social behavior. 2010;51(Suppl):S54. doi:10.1177/0022146510383501. Accessible from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3150158/
- 20. The relationship between organised recreational activity and mental health. Accessed December 1, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://www.dlgsc.wa.gov.au/department/publications/</u>publication/the-relationship-between-organised-recreational-activity-and-mental-health
- Jahrami H, BaHammam AS, Bragazzi NL, Saif Z, Faris M, Vitiello M v. Sleep problems during the COVID-19 pandemic by population: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of clinical sleep medicine : JCSM : official publication of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine. 2021;17(2):299-313. doi:10.5664/JCSM.8930. Accessible from: <u>https://pubmed. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33108269/</u>
- 22. Santomauro DF, Mantilla Herrera AM, Shadid J, et al. Global prevalence and burden of depressive and anxiety disorders in 204 countries and territories in 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The Lancet. 2021;398(10312):1700-1712. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(21)02143-7. Accessible from: <u>https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/</u> <u>PIIS0140-6736(21)02143-7/fulltext#seccestitle80</u>
- Shrestha R, Siwakoti S, Singh S, Shrestha AP. Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on suicide and self-harm among patients presenting to the emergency department of a teaching hospital in Nepal. PLOS ONE. 2021;16(4):e0250706. doi:10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0250706. Accessible from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33930044/</u>
- 24. The WHO special initiative for mental health (2019-2023) : universal health coverage for mental health. Accessed November 17, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/310981</u>
- 25. Why a WHO Special Initiative for Mental Health? Published online 2019. Accessed November 17, 2021. Accessible from: <u>http://www.who.int/iris/handle/10665/89966</u>
- 26. WHO EMRO | Mental health gap action programme | Mental health. Accessed November

17, 2021. Accessible from: <u>http://www.emro.who.int/mnh/mental-health-gap-action-</u> programme/index.html

- Poulter D, Votruba N, Bakolis I, Debell F, Das-Munshi J, Thornicroft G. Mental health of UK Members of Parliament in the House of Commons: a cross-sectional survey. BMJ Open. 2019;9(7):e027892. doi:10.1136/BMJOPEN-2018-027892. Accessible from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31262804/</u>
- 28. All-Party Parliamentary Group on Mental Health, Royal College of Psychiatrists, Mind, Rethink, Stand to Reason. Mental Health in Parliament: Report by the All-Party Parliamentary Group on Mental Health. Published online 2008.
- 29. Workload, stress and family life in British Members of Parliament and the psychological impact of reforms to their working hours Weinberg 1999 Stress Medicine Wiley Online Library. Accessed October 6, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/(SICI)1099-1700(199904)15:2%3C79::AID-SMI788%3E3.0.CO;2-S</u>
- Flinders M, Weinberg A, Weinberg J, Geddes M, Kwiatkowski R. Governing under Pressure? The Mental Wellbeing of Politicians. Parliamentary Affairs. 2020;73(2):253-273. doi:10.1093/ PA/GSY046. Accessible from: <u>https://academic.oup.com/pa/article/73/2/253/5262273</u>
- James D v., Farnham FR, Sukhwal S, Jones K, Carlisle J, Henley S. Aggressive/intrusive behaviours, harassment and stalking of members of the United Kingdom parliament: a prevalence study and cross-national comparison. Accessible from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/</u> <u>14789949.2015.1124908</u>
- 32. Dukakis MS. Campaigns and disability: When an incumbent president questions his potential successor's mental health status during the campaign. Politics and the Life Sciences. 2014;33(2):88-92. doi:10.2990/33_2_88. Accessible from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25901886/
- 33. How Parliament can put pressure on MPs' mental health | Stuff.co.nz. Accessed October 6, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://www.stuff.co.nz/national/politics/108053245/how-parliament-can-put-pressure-on-mps-mental-health</u>
- Altheide DL. Mental illness and the news: The Eagleton story. PsycNET. Sociology & Social Research. 1977;6(12):138-155. Accessed October 6, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/record/1977-27121-001</u>
- 35. D L, RM H. What does research tell us about depression, job performance, and work productivity? Journal of occupational and environmental medicine. 2008;50(4):401-410. doi:10.1097/JOM.0B013E31816BAE50. Accessible from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18404013/
- Lipskaya-Velikovsky L, Elgerisi D, Easterbrook A, Ratzon NZ. Motor skills, cognition, and work performance of people with severe mental illness. Accessible from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1</u> 080/09638288.2018.1425744
- 37. World Health Organisation MHP and SDD of MH. Mental Health and Work: Impact, Issues and Good Practices.; 2000.
- Wynne R, de Broeck V, Vandenbroek K. Promoting Mental Health in the Workplace Guidance to Implementing a Comprehensive Approach.; 2014. Accessed October 11, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/social/BlobServlet?docId=13879&langId=en</u>
- World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe., Baumann Anja, Muijen M (Matthijs), Gaebel Wolfgang. Mental health and well-being at the workplace : protection and inclusion in challenging times. Published online 2010.
- 40. Matt Korris. A Year in the Life: From Member of Public to Member of Parliament I New

MPs | Hansard Society. Published online 2011. Accessed October 18, 2021. Accessible from: https://www.hansardsociety.org.uk/publications/briefings/a-year-in-the-life-from-memberof-public-to-member-of-parliament-report

- 41. The slow-burning hatred that led Thomas Mair to murder Jo Cox | UK news | The Guardian. Accessed October 21, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2016/nov/23/thomas-mair-slow-burning-hatred-led-to-jo-cox-murder</u>
- 42. Sir David Amess: Conservative MP stabbed to death BBC News. Accessed October 21, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://www.bbc.com/news/uk-58930593</u>
- 43. Maldives ex-President Mohamed Nasheed 'critical' after bomb blast | News | Al Jazeera. Accessed November 30, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2021/5/7/</u> former-maldives-president-nasheed-remains-in-hospital
- NHSGGC : Physical, Psychological and Social Effects of Stalking. Accessed October 18, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://www.nhsggc.org.uk/working-with-us/hr-connect/health-safety/policies-guidance-documents-forms/stalking/physical-psychological-and-social-effects-of-stalking/</u>
- 45. James D v., Sukhwal S, Farnham FR, et al. Harassment and stalking of Members of the United Kingdom Parliament: associations and consequences. Accessible from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14789949.2015.1124909</u>
- 46. Weinberg A, Cooper CL. Stress among national politicians elected to Parliament for the first time. Stress and Health. 2003;19(2):111-117. doi:10.1002/SMI.965. Accessible from: <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/smi.965</u>
- Korris M, Society H. A Year in the Life: from member of public to Member of Parliament

 interim briefing paper, June 2011. Published online 2010. Accessed October 20, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://www.hansardsociety.org.uk</u>
- 48. Cox L. THE BULLYING AND HARASSMENT OF HOUSE OF COMMONS STAFF INDEPENDENT INQUIRY REPORT DAME LAURA COX DBE. Published online 2018. Accessed October 20, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://www.parliament.uk/globalassets/</u> <u>documents/conduct-in-parliament/dame-laura-cox-independent-inquiry-report.pdf</u>
- 49. Rise in helpline calls shows 'systemic issues' in Parliament, say unions | Evening Standard. Accessed October 20, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://www.standard.co.uk/news/uk/parliament-house-of-commons-thangam-debbonaire-westminster-palace-of-westminster-b945169.html</u>
- 50. Union calls for recognition of 'systematic bullying and sexual assault' in Australian parliament | Australian politics | The Guardian. Accessed November 8, 2021. Accessible from: https://www.theguardian.com/australia-news/2021/aug/09/union-calls-for-recognition-of-systematic-bullying-and-sexual-assault-in-australian-parliament
- 51. Australia's #MeToo Moment Has Started in Parliament The New York Times. Accessed November 8, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2021/04/05/world/australia/parliament-women-rape-metoo.html</u>
- 52. As rape allegations rock Australia's Parliament, thousands of women say enough is enough. Accessed November 8, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://www.nbcnews.com/news/world/rape-allegations-rock-australia-s-parliament-thousands-women-say-enough-n1261277</u>
- 53. Inspired by Brittany Higgins, one of Australian parliament's longest-serving women comes forward with sexual assault allegation ABC News. Accessed November 8, 2021. Accessible from: https://www.abc.net.au/news/2021-07-09/kate-sullivan-alleges-sexual-assault-in-parliament/100273484

- 54. Rospenda KM, Richman JA, Shannon CA. Prevalence and Mental Health Correlates of Harassment and Discrimination in the Workplace: Results from a National Study. Journal of interpersonal violence. 2009;24(5):819. doi:10.1177/0886260508317182. Accessible from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18463311/
- Cunniff L, Mostert K. Prevalence of workplace bullying of South African employees. SA Journal of Human Resource Management. 2012;10(3). doi:10.4102/SAJHRM.V10I1.450. Accessible from: <u>https://repository.nwu.ac.za/handle/10394/6927</u>
- 56. Neall AM, Tuckey MR. A methodological review of research on the antecedents and consequences of workplace harassment. Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology. 2014;87(2):225-257. doi:10.1111/JOOP.12059. Accessible from: <u>https://bpspsychub.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/joop.12059</u>
- 57. Wright S. Hierarchies and bullying: an examination into the drivers for workplace harassment within organisation. Accessible from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19186444.2020.1768790</u>
- Theakston K, Gouge E, Honeyman V. Life After Losing or Leaving: The Experience of Former Members of Parliament A Report for The Association of Former Members of Parliament by The University of Leeds Produced by Professor Kevin Theakston.; 2007. Accessed October 19, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://ontafp.com/assets/research/life-after-losing-or-leaving.pdf</u>
- 59. Wang KS, Yang YY, Delgado MR. How perception of control shapes decision making. Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences. 2021;41:85-91. doi:10.1016/J.COBEHA.2021.04.003. Accessible from: <u>https://www.researchwithrutgers.com/en/publications/how-perception-of-control-shapes-decision-making</u>
- 60. Weinberg A. Psychology at work: improving wellbeing and productivity in the workplace | BPS. Published 2017. Accessed October 20, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://www.bps.org.uk/news-and-policy/psychology-work-improving-wellbeing-and-productivity-workplace</u>
- Dalgard OS, Sorensen T, Sandanger I, Nygård JF, Svensson E, Reas DL. Job demands, job control, and mental health in an 11-year follow-up study: Normal and reversed relationships. 2009;23(3):284-296. doi:10.1080/02678370903250953. Accessible from: https://doi.org/10.1080/02678370903250953. Accessible from: https://doi.org/10.1080/02678370903250953.
- 62. Refresher courses need for councillors who lack skills to pass budgets SAIGA. Accessed October 21, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://www.capetalk.co.za/articles/430314/refresher-courses-need-for-councillors-who-lack-skills-to-pass-budgets-saiga-ceo</u>
- 63. Legislative Assembly for the Australian Capital Territory. CPA Mental Health Toolkit Survey Response. Published online 2022.
- 64. Leka S, Jain A. EU COMPASS FOR ACTION ON MENTAL HEALTH AND WELL-BEING MENTAL HEALTH IN THE WORKPLACE IN EUROPE-Consensus Paper.
- 65. Employer actions to support mental health | McKinsey. Accessed October 27, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/healthcare-systems-and-services/our-insights/</u> <u>national-surveys-reveal-disconnect-between-employees-and-employers-around-mentalhealth-need</u>
- 66. Corrigan P. How stigma interferes with mental health care. American Psychologist. 2004;59(7):614-625. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.59.7.614. Accessible from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15491256/</u>
- 67. Stigma and discrimination | Mental Health Foundation. Accessed November 18, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/a-to-z/s/stigma-and-discrimination</u>
- 68. Egbe CO, Brooke-Sumner C, Kathree T, Selohilwe O, Thornicroft G, Petersen I. Psychiatric stigma and discrimination in South Africa: perspectives from key stakeholders. BMC

psychiatry. 2014;14(1). doi:10.1186/1471-244X-14-191. Accessible from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.</u>nlm.nih.gov/24996420/

- 69. Stigma and Discrimination. Accessed November 18, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://www.psychiatry.org/patients-families/stigma-and-discrimination</u>
- Yanos PT, DeLuca JS, Roe D, Lysaker PH. The impact of illness identity on recovery from severe mental illness: A review of the evidence. Psychiatry Research. 2020;288. doi:10.1016/J. PSYCHRES.2020.112950. Accessible from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32361335/</u>
- CORRIGAN PW, WATSON AC. Understanding the impact of stigma on people with mental illness. World Psychiatry. 2002;1(1):16. Accessed November 18, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://</u> pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16946807/
- 72. Wong B, Tomaro N. 5 Workplace Mental Health Questions To Include In Employee Pulse And Employee Engagement Surveys. Mind Share Partners. Accessed October 27, 2021. Accessible from: https://www.mindsharepartners.org/post/5-workplace-mental-health-questions-to-include-in-employee-pulse-and-employee-engagement-surveys
- 73. Parliament of Malaysia. CPA Mental Health Toolkit Survey Response. Published online 2022.
- 74. European Network for Workplace Health Promotion. Luxembourg Declaration on Workplace Health Promotion in the European Union 2 Luxembourg Declaration on Workplace Health Promotion. Published online 2007. Accessed October 26, 2021. Accessible from: https://www.enwhp.org/resources/toolip/doc/2018/05/04/luxembourg_declaration.pdf
- 75. Baumann A, Muijen M. Mental health and well-being at the workplace protection and inclusion in challenging times. Published online 2010. Accessed October 4, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://www.euro.who.int/___data/assets/pdf_file/0018/124047/e94345.pdf</u>
- 76. Northern Ireland Assembly. CPA Mental Health Toolkit Survey Response. Published online 2022.
- 77. House of Commons of Canada. CPA Mental Health Toolkit Survey Response. Published online 2022.
- 78. SafeWork NSW. Mentally Healthy Workplaces in NSW Discussion Paper. Accessed October 29, 2021. Accessible from: <u>http://www.safework.nsw.gov.au/______data/assets/pdf_______file/0012/320232/Mentally-healthy-workplaces-in-NSW-discussion-paper-September-2017-_____SW08615.pdf</u>
- Mcdonald P. Workplace Sexual Harassment 30 Years on: A Review of the Literature. International Journal of Management Reviews. 2012;14(1):1-17. doi:10.1111/J.1468-2370.2011.00300.X. Accessible from: <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1468-2370.2011.00300.x</u>
- 80. Sexual harassment more than 'a few bad blokes' and preventive measures needed, Kate Jenkins says | Australian politics | The Guardian. Accessed November 8, 2021. Accessible from: Accessible from: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/australia-news/2021/jul/19/sexual-harassment-more-than-a-few-bad-blokes-and-preventive-measures-needed-kate-jenkins-says</u>
- 81. Everyone's Business: 2018 Sexual Harassment Survey. Accessed November 8, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://humanrights.gov.au/about/news/everyones-business-2018-sexual-harassment-survey</u>
- 82. Foster review in wake of Brittany Higgins allegations finds incident reporting systems deficient ABC News. Accessed November 8, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://www.abc.net.au/news/2021-06-05/parliament-review-find-half-of-complaints-against-politicians/100192888</u>

- 83. Female Labor staffers detail allegations of aggressive behaviour and sexual harassment ABC News. Accessed November 8, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://www.abc.net.au/news/2021-03-15/labor-sexual-harass-female-staffers-facebook-women-allegations/13247810</u>
- 84. Commonwealth of Australia Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet. Review of the Parliamentary Workplace: Responding to Serious Incidents consultation copy Copyright Statement PM&C Review of the Parliamentary Workplace: Responding to Serious Incidents. Published online July 26, 2021. Accessed November 8, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://www. pmc.gov.au/resource-centre/pmc/review-parliamentary-workplace-responding-seriousincidents</u>
- Magnusson Hanson LL, Nyberg A, Mittendorfer-Rutz E, Bondestam F, Madsen IEH. Work related sexual harassment and risk of suicide and suicide attempts: prospective cohort study. BMJ. 2020;370:2984. doi:10.1136/BMJ.M2984. Accessible from: <u>https://www.bmj.com/ content/370/bmj.m2984</u>
- 86. Sarkar U, Hemmat S, Linos E. Sexual harassment and suicide. BMJ. 2020;370:3330. doi:10.1136/BMJ.M3330. Accessible from: <u>https://www.bmj.com/content/370/bmj.m3330</u>
- 87. The Commonwealth Parliamentary Association (CPA), The Commonwealth Women Parliamentarians (CWP). Anti-Harassment Policy Guidelines: A Toolkit for Commonwealth Parliaments. Published online 2020. Accessed November 30, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://issuu.com/theparliamentarian/docs/cwp_anti_harassment_guidelines</u>
- 88. H. CT, J. S. Ideas and Advice to Accelerate the Transition for New MPs Entering New Zealand's House of Representatives.
- 89. Weinberg A. The mental health of politicians. Palgrave Communications 2017 3:1. 2017;3(1):14. doi:10.1057/palcomms.2017.81
- 90. The Legislative Assembly of the Northern Territory of Australia. CPA Mental Health Toolkit Survey Response. Published online 2022.
- 91. The mhGAP community toolkit: field test version. Accessed October 4, 2021. Accessible from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/the-mhgap-community-toolkit-field-test-version
- 92. Gauteng Provincial Legislature. CPA Survey Response. Published online 2021.
- 93. Parliament of Victoria. CPA Mental Health Toolkit Survey Response. Published online 2022.
- 94. Funk M, Saraceno B, Drew N, Faydi E. Integrating mental health into primary healthcare. Mental health in family medicine. 2008;5(1):5. Accessed October 29, 2021. Accessible from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2777555/
- 95. WHO Mental Health Policy planning & Service Development. Integrating Mental Health Services into Primary Health Care. Published online February 2008. Accessed October 29, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://www.who.int/mental_health/policy/services/3_MHintoPHC_ Infosheet.pdf</u>
- 96. Joseph B, Walker A. Employee assistance programs in Australia: the perspectives of organisational leaders across sectors. Asia Pacific Journal of Human Resources. 2017;55(2):177-191. doi:10.1111/1744-7941.12124. Accessible from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/1744-7941.12124
- 97. Joseph B, Walker A, Fuller-Tyszkiewicz M. Evaluating the effectiveness of employee assistance programmes: a systematic review. 2017;27(1):1-15. doi:10.1080/1359432X.2017.1374245. Accessible from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1359432X.2017.1374245</u>
- 98. Nakao M, Nishikitani M, Shima S, Yano E. A 2-year cohort study on the impact of an

Employee Assistance Programme (EAP) on depression and suicidal thoughts in male Japanese workers. International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health 2007 81:2. 2007;81(2):151-157. doi:10.1007/S00420-007-0196-X. Accessible from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17492306/</u>

- MK R, FC P, RC W, AP N. Impact of Employee Assistance Services on Depression, Anxiety, and Risky Alcohol Use: A Quasi-Experimental Study. Journal of occupational and environmental medicine. 2016;58(7):641-650. doi:10.1097/JOM.000000000000744. Accessible from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27389792/</u>
- 100. Provide Support | SAMHSA. Accessed October 29, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://www.samhsa.gov/workplace/toolkit/provide-support</u>
- 101. National Assembly of Québec. CPA Mental Health Toolkit Survey Response. Published online 2022.
- 102. The Queensland Parliament. CPA Mental Health Toolkit Survey Response. Published online 2022.
- 103. Legislative Assembly of Ontario. CPA Mental Health Toolkit Survey Response. Published online 2022.
- 104.Gauteng Provincial Legislature. CPA Mental Health Toolkit Survey Response. Published online 2022.
- 105. United Kingdom Parliament. CPA Mental Health Toolkit Survey Response. Published online 2022.
- 106.Sunderland K, Mishkin W, Peer Leadership Group. Guidelines for the Practice and Training of Peer Support. Published online 2013. Accessed November 1, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://peersupportcanada.ca/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/MHCC_Peer_Support_</u> <u>Guidelines_2016-ENG.pdf</u>
- 107. Peer support mental health services: Promoting person-centred and rights-based approaches. Accessed October 4, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240025783</u>
- 108. Maslowski AK, LaCaille RA, LaCaille LJ, Reich CM, Klingner J. Effectiveness of Mental Health First Aid: a meta-analysis. Mental Health Review Journal. 2019;24(4):245-261. doi:10.1108/ MHRJ-05-2019-0016. Accessible from: <u>https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/</u> <u>doi/10.1108/MHRJ-05-2019-0016/full/html</u>
- 109. Manitoba Legislative Assembly. CPA Mental Health Toolkit Survey Response. Published online 2022.
- 110. Parliament of Tynwald. CPA Mental Health Toolkit Survey Response. Published online 2022.
- 111. Parliament of Tasmania. CPA Mental Health Toolkit Survey Response. Published online 2021
- 112. The States of Deliberation G. CPA Mental Health Toolkit Survey Response. Published online 2022.
- Montano D, Hoven H, Siegrist J. Effects of organisational-level interventions at work on employees' health: A systematic review. BMC Public Health. 2014;14(1):1-9. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-14-135. Accessible from: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3929163/</u>
- 114. Bhui KS, Dinos S, Stansfeld SA, White PD. A synthesis of the evidence for managing stress at work: a review of the reviews reporting on anxiety, depression, and absenteeism. Journal of environmental and public health. 2012;2012. doi:10.1155/2012/515874. Accessible from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22496705/

- 115. Tan L, Wang MJ, Modini M, et al. Preventing the development of depression at work: A systematic review and meta-analysis of universal interventions in the workplace. BMC Medicine. 2014;12(1):1-11. doi:10.1186/1741-7015-12-74/FIGURES/3. Accessible from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24886246/
- 116. Joyce S, Modini M, Christensen H, et al. Workplace interventions for common mental disorders: a systematic meta-review. Psychological medicine. 2016;46(4):683-697. doi:10.1017/S0033291715002408. Accessible from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26620157/</u>
- 117. Aboujaoude E, Gega L, Parish MB, Hilty DM. Editorial: Digital Interventions in Mental Health: Current Status and Future Directions. Frontiers in Psychiatry. 2020;11:111. doi:10.3389/ FPSYT.2020.00111. Accessible from: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/</u> <u>PMC7056878/</u>
- 118. Andersson G, Carlbring P, Rozental A. Response and Remission Rates in Internet-Based Cognitive Behavior Therapy: An Individual Patient Data Meta-Analysis. Frontiers in Psychiatry. 2019;10:749. doi:10.3389/FPSYT.2019.00749. Accessible from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31708813/</u>
- 119. Beating the Blues. Accessed November 15, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://www.nhsgrampian.org/your-health/healthy-living/cCBT/beating-the-blues/</u>
- 120. Beating the Blues (Fife) Health and Well-being. Accessed November 15, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://www.nhsinform.scot/scotlands-service-directory/health-and-wellbeing-</u> <u>services/12405%201fif1116</u>
- 121. NHS Tayside. Accessed November 15, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://www.nhstayside.scot.</u> <u>nhs.uk/BeatingtheBlues/index.html</u>
- 122. Online CBT Course | Therapy Online | Beating The Blues. Accessed November 15, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://www.beatingtheblues.co.uk/</u>
- 123. Proudfoot J, Goldberg D, Mann A, Everitt B, Marks I, Gray JA. Computerized, interactive, multimedia cognitive-behavioural program for anxiety and depression in general practice. Psychological Medicine. 2003;33(2):217-227. doi:10.1017/S0033291702007225. Accessible from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12622301/</u>
- 124. Proudfoot J, Ryden C, Everitt B, et al. Clinical efficacy of computerised cognitive-behavioural therapy for anxiety and depression in primary care: Randomised controlled trial. The British Journal of Psychiatry. 2004;185(1):46-54. doi:10.1192/BJP.185.1.46. Accessible from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15231555/
- 125. Moodgym Interactive skills training for depression and anxiety. Accessed November 15, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://moodgym.com.au/</u>
- 126. Mindfulness All-Party Parliamentary Group. Mindful Nation UK. Published October 2015. Accessed October 4, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://www.themindfulnessinitiative.org/</u> <u>Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=1af56392-4cf1-4550-bdd1-72e809fa627a</u>
- 127. What are the benefits of mindfulness? Accessed November 15, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://www.apa.org/monitor/2012/07-08/ce-corner</u>
- 128. Hofmann SG, Gómez AF. Mindfulness-Based Interventions for Anxiety and Depression. The Psychiatric clinics of North America. 2017;40(4):739. doi:10.1016/J.PSC.2017.08.008. Accessible from: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5679245/</u>
- 129. Gu J, Strauss C, Bond R, Cavanagh K. How do mindfulness-based cognitive therapy and mindfulness-based stress reduction improve mental health and wellbeing? A systematic review and meta-analysis of mediation studies. Clinical Psychology Review. 2015;37:1-12. doi:10.1016/J.CPR.2015.01.006

- 130. Frostadottir AD, Dorjee D. Effects of mindfulness based cognitive therapy (MBCT) and compassion focused therapy (CFT) on symptom change, mindfulness, self-compassion, and rumination in clients with depression, anxiety, and stress. Frontiers in Psychology. 2019;10(MAY):1099. doi:10.3389/FPSYG.2019.01099. Accessible from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6534108/
- 131. Fjorback LO, Arendt M, Ornbol E, Fink P, Walach H. Mindfulness-Based Stress Reduction and Mindfulness-Based Cognitive Therapy – a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica. 2011;124(2):102-119. doi:10.1111/J.1600-0447.2011.01704.X. Accessible from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21534932/</u>
- 132. NIMH: Technology and the Future of Mental Health Treatment. Accessed November 15, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/topics/technology-and-the-future-of-mental-health-treatment#part_2444</u>
- 133. Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) | NICE advice | Our programmes | What we do | About | NICE. Accessed November 15, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/about/what-we-do/our-programmes/nice-advice/iapt</u>
- 134. Digital therapies assessed and accepted by the Improving Access to Psychological Therapies Programme (IAPT) | Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) | NICE advice | Our programmes | What we do | About | NICE. Accessed November 15, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/about/what-we-do/our-programmes/nice-advice/improvingaccess-to-psychological-therapies--iapt-/submitting-a-product-to-iapt</u>
- 135. NHS Apps Library NHS. Accessed November 15, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://www.nhs.uk/apps-library/</u>
- 136. All-Party Parliamentary Group on Mental Health, Mind, Rethink Mental Illness., Royal College of Psychiatrists. MPs and staffers' guide to mental health | Mind, the mental health charity - help for mental health problems. Accessed November 16, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https:// www.mind.org.uk/about-us/our-policy-work/our-work-in-parliament/mps-and-staffersguide-to-mental-health/</u>
- 137. Mental Health Commission of Canada. MEASURING PROGRESS: Resources for Developing a Mental Health and Addiction Performance Measurement Framework for Canada mentalhealthcommission.ca 2 3. Published online 2018. Accessed November 17, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/wp-content/uploads/ drupal/2018-07/MHPMF_final_report_eng_0.pdf</u>
- 138. Patient health questionnaire 9 (PHQ-9) | Health Navigator NZ. Accessed November 17, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://www.healthnavigator.org.nz/tools/p/patient-health-questionnaire-9-phq-9/</u>
- 139. General anxiety disorder 7-item | Health Navigator NZ. Accessed November 17, 2021. Accessible from: <u>https://www.healthnavigator.org.nz/tools/g/general-anxiety-scale-gad-7/</u>
- 140.Babor TF, Higgins-Biddle JC, Saunders JB, Monteiro MG. The Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test Guidelines for Use in Primary Care. Published online 2001. Accessible from: <u>https://www.paho.org/sites/default/files/Auditmanual_ENG.pdf</u>



Image credits: CPA Secretariat and CPA Branches, Shutterstock file images and freepik.com

Published by the Commonwealth Parliamentary Association (CPA). Registered Charity Number 263147.

CPA Headquarters Secretariat Richmond House, Houses of Parliament London SW1A OAA United Kingdom

Telephone: +44 (0)20 7799 1460 Email: hq.sec@cpahq.org Website: www.cpahq.org